
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Crime & Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) 

Committee
Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)

Councillor A Sandhu MBE(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs Maria B Kelly

Councillor R Lees
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor D J Mote

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 10 February 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Wednesday 10 February 2016

1. Apologies For Absence 

To receive any apologies of absence.

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2015 (Pages 1 - 
14)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees to consider at 
present.

6. Chairman's Welcome and Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 
- 18)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
January 2016 to 31 May 2016.

8. Kent Police and Crime Commission (PCP) Update (Pages 19 
- 26)

To note the attached Minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and 
Crime Panel meetings held on 22 September and 26 October 2015 
and to receive a verbal update from the Deputy Leader as Dartford’s 
representative on the Panel.



9. CSP Strategic Assessment 2015 (Pages 27 
- 86)

To consider the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment 2015 document as 
presented to the Partnership on 21 January 2016. 

10. Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: New 
Powers 

(Pages 87 
- 92)

This report provides background on the new tools and powers 
introduced under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014.

11. Work Plan Update (Pages 93 
- 94)

To note the suggested additions to the Committee’s rolling Work 
Programme for the remainder of the 2015-16 Municipal Cycle and 
beyond.

12. Next Meeting 

Subject to confirmation at Annual Council [11 May] the next meeting 
of the Committee will take place on Wednesday 27 July 2016.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee held on Wednesday 22 July 2015.

PRESENT: Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean

ABSENT: Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor R Lees
Councillor D J Mote

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Mark Salisbury – Enforcement & Regulatory Services 
and Community Safety Unit 
Manager

Matt Roberts – Community Safety Manager

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor Chris Shippam, Deputy Leader, 
Councillor Mrs Ann Allen MBE, Portfolio Holder for 
Community Development

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Chief Supt. Adrian 
Futers

– Divisional Commander, Kent Police

Insp. Gary Woodward – Dartford CSU Inspector, Kent Police

1. CHAIRMAN'S WELCOME AND UPDATE 

The Chairman extended a particular welcome to Kent Police Divisional 
Commander, Chief Supt. Adrian Futers and Insp. Gary Woodward, Dartford’s 
Community Safety Unit Inspector. He also welcomed the Deputy Leader of 
the Council Councillor Chris Shippam to his first Crime & Disorder meeting as 
Dartford’s representative on the Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP), renewed 
his welcome to Councillor Ann Allen (Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community 
Development) in addition to welcoming all new Members to the Committee. 

The presence of the Strategic Director (External Services), the Enforcement, 
Regulatory Services and Community Safety Unit Manager and the Community 
Safety Manager was also noted and welcomed. Given the number of new 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

2

Members to the Committee, the Chairman asked the Strategic Director to give 
a brief overview of the Committee’s work.

The SD (ES) advised Members that the role of the Crime & Disorder 
Committee and its operating parameters were set out in full in the 
Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) documents, attached to 
the Committee’s Annual Report for 2014/15 due for consideration later in the 
Agenda [Item 12]. The Annual Report gave a good flavour of how the 
Committee operated and the topics it considered, on both a statutory and non-
statutory basis.

In brief, the primary role of the Committee was to review and scrutinise the 
impact on the Borough of the policies of the joint Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and its constituent statutory bodies: 
Dartford Borough Council, Gravesham Borough Council, Kent Police, Kent 
County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Service, Kent Surrey and Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Company and the Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group. Whilst the CSP was a joint body, 
Dartford and Gravesham Councils had separate Crime and Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) Committees, each concentrating on the CSP’s policies 
as they impacted on their respective Boroughs. 

The Committee’s current Work Programme due to be discussed later in the 
Agenda [Item 11] contained two statutory elements. The Committee was 
required to consider the CSP’s Annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document 
at its February meeting and the consequent CSP Community Safety Action 
Plan for the next 12 month period at its July meeting.  The Committee had 
scrutinised in rotation, the contributions made by the CSP’s constituent 
statutory bodies to the objectives of the Partnership as a whole. However, 
scrutiny by the Committee was subject to agreed parameters. Members could, 
for example, invite Kent Fire & Rescue to make a presentation on how they 
worked (with CSP partners) to tackle the problem of deliberate fires on public 
open spaces such as Dartford Heath. However, it would not be appropriate for 
the Committee to scrutinise the approach, performance and resources 
devoted by Kent Fire and Rescue to fighting fires per se.

The Chairman noted that Colin Newmarch, former Enforcement Manager in 
Dartford’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) had retired since the Committee last 
met in February 2015. He asked that Colin’s significant contribution as 
Enforcement Manager for the Council and his contribution to the Committee 
and Members understanding of Enforcement issues, be recorded in the 
Minutes.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Lees, D J Mote and 
A Sandhu MBE.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

3

There were no declarations of interest from Members.

4. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 
FEBRUARY 2015 

The Chairman noted that, given changes to the Committee’s compliment and 
the absence of Councillors that evening, he was the only Member present 
able to confirm the Minutes of 11 February 2015. He was content that the 
Minutes were accurate and proposed that the Committee approve them on 
that basis. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Minutes of the Committee’s meeting held on 11 February 
2015 be confirmed as an accurate account of those proceedings.

5. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for the Committee to 
consider.

6. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

7. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 June to 31 
October 2015 be noted.

8. KENT POLICE AND CRIME PANEL (PCP) 

The Committee received an update from the Deputy Leader in his role as 
Dartford representative on the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel 
(PCP). 

The Deputy Leader advised the Committee that following his participation in 
the PCP meeting held on 2 June 2015; his first impressions were that the 
Panel appeared to have limited scope in which to properly question the 
performance of Kent’s Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) Ann Barnes.  
The Panel comprised Councillor Representatives from all Kent District 
Councils, plus two Independent Co-optee members and was politically 
balanced. Mike Hill (Independent) had been re-elected as Chairman for the 
ensuing Parliamentary cycle. 

The PCC had reported her new Chief of Staff to the Panel as Mr Adrian 
Harper, selected from three in-house candidates for appointment on a 
provisional basis, given that the continued role of PCC’s had been uncertain 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

4

prior to the outcome of the General Election. Subsequent to the Election Mr 
Harper’s appointment had been confirmed on a long-term basis.

The PCC had also presented her Annual Report for 2014/15 to the Panel and 
highlighted the following points:

 Victims were now placed at the heart of all policing processes in Kent 
with Kent Police regarded as leading the country in this new approach;

 The ‘Track my Crime’ initiative had been well received by the public 
and judged a great success;

 Kent Police’s recording of reported crime now stood at 96% accuracy 
following the inspection of the Kent Force by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in 2013/14. She noted that in 
comparison, figures for crime recording accuracy in other Forces were 
as low as 82%;

 Some £300K of the Kent Police budget had been targeted for the 
[selective] use of body worn video cameras to help record crime and 
Police performance; 

 Operation ‘Athena’ an intelligence sharing strategy between Kent 
Police and neighbouring Forces (particularly Essex Police) was due to 
be rolled-out in the Spring of 2016;

 The Kent Youth Commissioner had completed her contract in February 
2015 with a creditable performance in adverse circumstances. 
However, the PCC had decided to widen her youth engagement policy 
and replace the Youth Commissioner post with a new Youth Advisory 
Group (YAG). Representatives from existing youth forums across Kent 
would be invited to participate in YAG which would be funded by the 
monies previously allocated to the Youth Commissioner post. Panel 
Members had encouraged the PCC to widen her proposed 
membership of YAG, to include disaffected and marginalised members 
of the Youth community more at risk of involvement in crime and ASB. 
Engagement with young people from the Gypsy and Traveller 
community had also been advocated by the Panel;

 Only three (3) Complaints against the PCC had been heard by the 
Complaints Sub-committee in the period under review. None had been 
upheld;

 Kent Police represented excellent Value for Money (VfM) returning the 
4th lowest policing cost per head in the country

The Divisional Commander, Chief Supt. Adrian Futers expanded on the VfM 
point in the PCC’s Annual Report. He advised the Committee that Kent Police 
had experienced some £180M in cuts during the course of the last Parliament 
and subject to confirmation in the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement; Kent 
Police could expect to face further cuts of up to 40%, together with those 
Government Departments whose funding was not ring-fenced. Given that 
89% of the current Police budget represented staffing costs, further cuts on 
such a scale would be difficult to achieve. A reduction in the number and 
grades of senior police officers was proposed to protect the number of front-
line officers. Increased use of civilian Police staff in lower salary bands was 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

5

also being mooted to cover duties which did not require powers of arrest. The 
Divisional Commander believed that the Kent Police budget for 2015/16 would 
be safe from cuts but that the future fiscal picture for Kent and all Forces in 
England and Wales was uncertain.

9. PERFORMANCE 

The Committee received a performance update report from the Community 
Safety Officer (CSO). Enclosed at Appendix A to his update was the 
Performance Report produced by the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 
detailing performance in relation to levels of crime and anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) recorded in Dartford and Gravesham for the financial year period 1 
April 2014 to 31 March 2015. The CSP report also compared the crime levels 
recorded in the period under review against anticipated levels of crime as 
provided by Kent Police.  The CSP Performance Report had been discussed 
and approved by the Partnership on 11 June 2015 and was presented to the 
Committee for information.

The Community Safety Manager (CSM) reminded Members that, previously, 
performance had been calculated by comparing levels of crime and ASB for a 
twelve month period against those recorded for the previous corresponding 12 
month period. However, this method had led to a target driven culture and 
performance was now calculated by comparing levels of crime and ASB for 
the previous financial year period, against an anticipated level for crime and 
ASB for the same period, as calculated by Kent Police based on the previous 
five years of recorded crime.  Using this new comparative method, levels of 
crime and ASB in Dartford and Gravesham CSP had risen in comparative 
terms in nearly half of all crime types in the 2014-15 period under review. 
Conversely, Dartford & Gravesham’s performance as a CSP had actually 
improved slightly from 14th to 13th position, within its ‘Most Similar Group’ of 
CSPs [Appendix A agenda p. 19).  

The CSP had debated at length, the increases in Dartford’s crime and ASB 
levels and questioned what could be done to improve the Borough’s position 
against other areas in Kent. It was noted that significant changes to the 
recording of crime by Kent Police, allied to changes in crime categorisation by 
the Home Office, in particular for ‘offences of violence’, formed part of the 
explanation if not the solution in the consideration of Dartford’s increased 
levels of crime and ASB in the period under review.

The CSM advised Members that Kent Police now had the highest level of 
accuracy for recording crime in England and Wales at over 96%, following an 
inspection of their previous crime recording procedures by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in 2013/14. As a consequence, 
Dartford’s and Gravesham’s  figures for recorded crime and ASB had 
inevitably risen in the 2014-15 period under review and compared adversely 
with Kent Police’s estimated crime figures for the same period, based on 
crime data recorded in the 5 years prior to the HMIC inspection. However, the 
crime data for 2014-15 would provide an accurate base-line for the future 
calculation of estimated levels of crime and ASB for the CSP going forward. In 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

6

this context; HMIC had inspected other Forces during 2014 (revealing crime 
recording accuracy levels as low as 82%). As those Forces adopted the same 
higher standard of recording practices as Kent Police (now known as the 
‘Kent Test’) it was likely that similar increases in levels of crime would be 
experienced by those Forces and reflected in the performances of their CSPs, 
including in Dartford & Gravesham’s MSG. 

Changes introduced by the Home Office (HO) to the classifications for certain 
crime types, in particular violence offences, were a further factor to be taken 
into consideration. The HO changes had impacted adversely on the figures for 
Dartford & Gravesham CSP producing significantly higher levels of violent 
crime than anticipated for 2014-15. The majority of violent offences fell in the 
violence against the person category with increases in Dartford ranging 
between 25% - 33% across the category. Domestic Abuse (DA) and violence 
committed during the hours of operation of the Night Time Economy had 
predominated. Positive news was a drop in the number of repeat victims of 
DA. A point to note was that not all newly categorised violent crimes 
necessarily involved violent acts.

The CSM also confirmed that crime figures for the Bluewater shopping 
complex continued to be counted within Dartford’s crime figures and impacted 
adversely on the Borough’s statistics as a whole. Similarly, the Northern 
Gateway transportation links into and through Dartford produced an enormous 
footfall for the Borough, the vast majority of which were not Dartford residents. 
Criminals passing through the Borough were difficult to apprehend and their 
activities equally difficult to predict and combat.

Members were advised that figures recorded for ASB now reflected actual 
reports made to Kent Police, rather than the public’s perception of ASB. 
Reducing levels of reported ASB was a key outcome for the Troubled 
Families programme and a number of the families making up Dartford’s cohort 
had been referred onto the Programme due to concerns over ASB. In 
response, Dartford CSU Officers, the Council’s Housing Services and Kent 
Police had co-operated effectively to address the complex needs of these 
families and combat ASB within the Borough. Dartford was one of the best 
performing areas in Kent in terms of the number of families where the 
Payment by Results (PbR) element of the Programme was successfully 
claimed by the local authority, due to reduced levels of anti-social behaviour in 
participating families.

In concluding his presentation, the CSM noted that the England and Wales 
Crime Survey (CSEW) of residents, conducted by the Office of National 
Statistics [published in October 2014] had shown an overall decrease in crime 
of 7%. Conversely, recording of crime reported to the 43 Police Forces in 
England and Wales plus the British Transport Police and relayed to the Home 
Office, had recorded an overall increase in crime of 3%. 

The Chairman thanked the CSM for presenting the Performance Report and 
explaining the significant additional background to the subject matter for the 
Committee. 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

7

In response to specific questions from Members, the Strategic Director and 
the CSM, together with the Kent Police Divisional Commander and CSU 
Inspector, confirmed the following points:

 A comprehensive picture for ASB in Dartford was difficult to establish 
given the differing casework platforms employed to combat the issue 
by the Council and Kent Police and the risk of double counting cases 
across CSP partner agencies;

 Troubled Families Scheme: Phase I of the Scheme had identified 4,000 
troubled families in Kent with 95 initially identified in Dartford. 
Subsequent CSU investigations had identified a total of 168 Troubled 
Families in Dartford of which 125 had been helped to successfully 
overcome their complex problems. There was no breakdown for 
incidents of ASB committed by members of Troubled Families. Phase II 
of the TF Scheme would concentrate on broader outcomes identifying 
between ‘Troubled’ and ‘Troublesome’ families with the latter more 
inclined to acts of ASB, including offences committed by adult 
members, which fell under the remit of the newly formed Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC) for Kent, Surrey and Sussex. Demand 
for the Scheme in Dartford was estimated at some 300 families in the 
next 5 year period. There was no set time-scale for a family to become 
‘Troubled’ and assessment was evidence based;

 The assessment and reporting of Violent Crime was a complex issue 
influenced by changes in Home Office re-classification for violence 
offenses and past Kent Police practices for recording crime which had 
all contributed to skewing the numbers in the period under review. 
Drilling down into the figures for Domestic Abuse (DA) and focussing 
on serious violence were identified priorities, with efforts concentrated 
in particular on the victims of such crime. No marked increase in street 
crime had been identified by Kent Police. However, in Dartford, the 
increasing number of patients with mental health issues prone to 
violence had impacted disproportionately on Dartford’s figures for 
incidents of violence against the person. The example was given of 
one such patient interacting ‘violently’ with a five nurse team resulting 
in 5 separate acts of violence being recorded in Dartford’s figures;

 Domestic Abuse (DA): There was a discussion about whether 
increased volume of domestic abuse was down to an increase in 
reporting or due to the ‘Kent Test’ being applied where incidents 
previously reported as violence against the person were reclassified as 
a domestic incident. The CSP view was that increased reporting 
equated to success, that people had more confidence in the Police and 
were thus more willing to report an incident. Two important indicators in 
this respect were the total of reports of DA, which had risen, and the 
number of repeat victims of DA which was down. This is believed to be 
attributable to the good work and successes of the Independent 
Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) and the Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conferences (MARACs). The Domestic Abuse Forum 
chaired by the Council’s Housing Options Manager, brings together 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

8

agencies from the statutory and voluntary sectors and coordinates a lot 
of work to tackle domestic abuse across Dartford and Gravesham;

 Police co-operation and intelligence sharing between North Kent and 
Bexley Heath had been formalised by the Divisional Commander in a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with work being taken forward 
in working groups;

 The Strategic Director noted the significance of Dartford’s geographical 
position as a corridor Borough, situated between the Cinque Ports of 
Kent and the London Metropolitan area, and the continued adverse 
impact that cross-border crime [facilitated by the M25, M20, A2 and 
high-speed rail transport links] had on the Borough’s crime statistics. 
The attractions of the Bluewater complex with an estimated footfall of 
28 million per annum were another significant factor in the Borough’s 
overall crime statistics and if added to the Borough’s population size of 
approximately 98,000 would significantly reduce the ‘crimes per 1,000 
population’ figure for the Borough, especially for shoplifting and theft 
offences.

RESOLVED:

That the Committee note the contents of the Performance Report produced 
for and discussed by Dartford & Gravesham CSP at its meeting on 11 June 
2015 relating to levels of crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) in Dartford 
and Gravesham for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015.

10. COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN 2015-16 

The Committee were asked to consider the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Plan 2015-16 (attached as Appendix A to the report) and 
comment accordingly.

The covering report reminded Members that the Committee, at its meeting on 
11 February 2015 had considered the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment 
(SA) 2014 document. The priorities identified in the 2014 SA document, 
together with the views expressed by partner agencies within the CSP and 
elected Members, had been taken forward in to the Community Safety Plan 
for 2015-16. The Plan had been discussed and agreed by the CSP at their 
meeting on 19 March 2015. The Plan guides the work of all CSP partner 
agencies and ensures that the focus upon the Community Safety 
Partnership’s agreed priorities is maintained.

The Community Safety Manager (CSM) confirmed the following points and 
key areas regarding the 2015-16 Plan for Members:

 The Plan was a statutory requirement strategically linked to the CSP’s 
2014 SA document;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

9

 The Priorities identified in the 2014 SA remained the same as those 
identified in the previous year and had been incorporated into the 
2015-16 Plan as combating - Anti-Social behaviour (ASB), Violent 
crime including domestic abuse (DA), Substance misuse (alcohol and 
drug-related), Property Crime (domestic burglary and theft offences), 
Reducing re-offending, Road Safety;

 Kent Police statistics had been analysed  and distilled for the 2015-16 
Financial Year prior to incorporation into the Plan;

 Preventing Violent Extremism through the delivery of the Government’s 
Prevent Strategy, a key part of the Government’s CONTEST counter-
terrorism strategy responding to the ideological challenge of terrorism 
and those promoting it;

 Safeguarding Children – promoting their welfare and preventing child 
sexual exploitation (CSE) were major challenges which all local 
authorities had to get right;

 Partnership Structures set out in the Plan [Agenda p. 30] were 
designed to ensure the CSP’s Priorities identified in the Plan were 
delivered and the performance and progress of the work undertaken by 
the CSP Sub-Groups effectively monitored;

 Road Safety Group – the Group’s Speed Watch scheme undertaken by 
local resident on a voluntary basis continued to be effective in reducing 
speeding throughout the Borough. The Scheme had no enforcement 
powers but offending drivers were notified by letter sent by Kent Police 
that they had been speeding and persistent repeat offenders could be 
visited by Police Officers and formally warned;

 Reducing Re-offending Group – a success for the Group was the 
voluntary tagging of re-offenders scheme. Funding had been given to 
the Group to enable offenders being released to have appropriate 
documentation to allow them to access services and benefits in an 
effort to reduce the likelihood of reoffending;

 Drug & Alcohol Action Group – the Group had recently produced a 
local Alcohol Strategy following an action from the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, other actions had included the promotion of the  
Needle Exchange programme to tackle the number of discarded 
needles (thankfully few in number) and combating the increased use of 
so-called ‘Legal Highs’.

The Lead Member for Enforcement & Community Safety noted the 
relationship between CSP’s Plan for 2015-16 and the Council’s Corporate 
Plan (CP). With specific reference to the principal theme in the CP for a Safer 
Community and Strategic Objective SC2 – to reduce anti-social behaviour 
(ASB), he asked what CSP partner agencies were doing to address the recent 
influx of unauthorised traveller encampments in the Borough. 

The Divisional Commander, Kent Police gave the Committee an overview of 
recent Traveller incursions into the Borough and the attendant problems 
including instances of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and other infringements 
that had been causing Dartford residents increasing concern.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

10

He advised Members that whilst a raft of legislation existed to address 
Traveller and Gypsy issues, the Powers were discretionary and all the 
relevant criteria had to be met in each case before the Police could take 
enforcement action. The Powers could only be taken at Inspector level (and 
above) and required the agreement of the relevant landowner in the case of 
encampments or other land use by Traveller groups. Landowners, for a 
variety of reasons did not always give that permission. Not all Traveller 
encampments were unlawful, and even when they were, the safety and 
welfare of the Travellers concerned had to be taken into account by the Police 
and CSP partner agencies. The lack of adequate transit sites for Travellers 
throughout Kent was an added complicating factor in addressing Traveller 
issues and the process of moving new encampments out of the Borough. 
Kent Police and the Council were in the process of finalising a new and 
revised Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) to address traveller issues in 
the Borough going forward, including a greater supporting role for senior 
Police and Council Officers in support of the CSU Police Inspector. 

In response to further specific questions from a Member, the Divisional 
Commander and the EARS/CSU Manager confirmed the following points:

 Kent Police had taken enforcement action against two Traveller sites in 
the Borough in the previous 18 month period Section 61 legislation with 
effective outcomes being achieved within a matter of hours;

 The more recent incursions by Travellers were being addressed jointly 
by Kent Police and CSU Officers with revised procedures being 
formalised in the new MoU, but it remained the case that Section 61 
Powers were discretionary and all criteria had to be met before 
enforcement could be sanctioned;

 The new MoU recognised the rights of both Travellers under the settled 
community and the need to ensure the care and welfare needs of 
Travellers and their families were safeguarded, whilst taking robust 
action against crime and anti-social behaviour;

 Council Officers could in theory seize Traveller vehicles, but the safety 
of those Officers had to be taken into account before contemplating 
such action, given their lack of arresting powers. Acting in conjunction 
with Police Officers was preferable;

 Single Traveller encampments were more difficult to resolve, especially 
if kept clean and didn’t pose an obstruction in road traffic terms;

 Evidence of criminal damage, nuisance, ASB was required by local 
authorities before eviction could take place under Section 77 of the Act, 
but eviction could generally be effected in 3-4 days, provided a Court 
was available to hold the proceedings;

 Senior Police Officers would take a more hands-on role under the new 
MoU arrangements offering guidance and advice to the CSU Inspector 
including acting in his absence.

The EARS and CSU Manager confirmed that he supported a revised MoU 
with Kent Police, which clearly defined the roles of the respective parties and 
the areas for joint working. The problem of loose horses in the Borough had 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

11

been successfully tackled through joint working with CSP partners and he 
expected the new MoU to produce similar positive outcomes. Kent as a whole 
had experienced unprecedented Traveller and Gypsy activity with seventeen 
(17) Traveller incursions taking place in Dartford alone in 2015. Early 
intervention to combat incidents of Traveller incursion was vital, with good 
multi-agency intelligence sharing essential to ensure problems were solved 
and not just moved on to the next Borough. Members and residents had an 
essential role to play in intelligence gathering to help the CSU and Kent Police 
identify problems in their Wards e.g. fly-tipping hotspots. Passing on these 
details to the CSU would enable the Unit and Kent Police to ‘target harden’ 
and tackle the major and significant problems and help make Dartford a 
‘hostile’ environment for unauthorised encampments in the future.

The Strategic Director advised the Committee that she had been working with 
community safety issues since 2004. A previous cycle of unauthorised 
incursions into the Borough had led firstly to the formation of the Enforcement 
Team and then the expansion into the Community Safety Unit jointly staffed 
by Council and Kent Police Officers. The Council had devoted considerable 
resources into ‘target hardening’ between 2004 and 2014 to address 
unauthorised encampments in the Borough. However, she stressed that in the 
last two months incursions into the Borough were more determined and 
aggressive with the aim of working, not holidaying or socialising. The Authority 
was pushing this message out to the general public and Dartford residents 
who gave temporary and other longer –term work to the Traveller community 
and the implications this held for the Borough. Discussions would also be held 
with landowners who tolerated unauthorised encampments and educate them 
as to the impact that allowing such settlement on their land held for the 
community as a whole. In cases of fly-tipping and other anti-social activity the 
Council would seek to prosecute offenders. The public had a duty of care to 
their community and Members had an important role to play in educating their 
constituents and providing information to the CSU of unauthorised 
encampments, fly-tipping and other ASB activity in their Wards.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Committee notes the contents of the CSP’s Community Safety 
Plan for 2015-16.

11. WORK PROGRAMME 

Members received a report summarising the work undertaken by the 
Committee during the 2014-15 municipal cycle and a draft Work Plan for 
2015-16 (attached as Appendix A to the report).

The Strategic Director advised Members that all the statutory bodies within 
the CSP had now made presentations to the Committee on their work. 
However, given the changes to the responsibilities of the Probation Service 
and the formation of the new Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) a 
presentation from the Kent Surrey and Sussex CRC would be a useful 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

12

addition to the Work Plan in due course, once the CRC had settled into its 
role.

She suggested that a firm proposal for the next meeting of the Committee in 
February 2016 could be a review of the new Anti- Social Behaviour (ASB) 
powers now in force, following recent legislation changes. The new powers 
would have been in effect for some 18 months by February 2016 and CSU 
Officers would be asked to prepare a report for the Committee on how the 
new measures were helping combat ASB in the Borough.

Other possible topics discussed by the Committee for inclusion in the rolling 
Work Programme were:

(i) A report on the PREVENT agenda to combat terrorism and extremism 
in the community [CSM/CSU];

(ii) Safety Shop facility in Bluewater [Kent Police];

(iii) Neighbourhood Watch – Sharing Best Practice [Kent Police]

RESOLVED:

1. That an updated Work Plan be presented to the Committee  at its next 
meeting in February 2016, reflecting discussion on 22 July 2015;

2. That the Committee receive a report in February 2016 reviewing the 
use and effectiveness of the new powers available to local authorities 
and CSP partner agencies to combat Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and 
the outcomes of implementation of the new powers in the Borough.

12. COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE 2014-15 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

The Committee received the Annual Report on its work during the 2014 - 15 
municipal cycle for consideration and submission to the General Assembly of 
the Council (GAC).

The Chairman thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for compiling the 
document and all Officers for their contributions to the Committee’s 
proceedings in the period under review, with particular thanks to the Strategic 
Director for her continuing guidance and advice.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the Committee’s Annual Report for the 2014-15 
Municipal Year be noted and submitted to the General Assembly of the 
Council.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JULY 2015

13

The meeting closed at 8.25 pm

Councillor R J Wells
CHAIRMAN





15 January 2016 - 31 May 2016

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Injurious 
Affectation Claim and 
Consultancy Fees

To seek agreement to the 
contractual payment of the 
consultant’s fees in relation to 
completed work and to recommend 
the delegation of decisions relating 
to other aspects of an ongoing 
injurious affectation claim.

Cabinet
21 Jan 2016

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - exempt 
under Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2016/17

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2016/17, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2016/17, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2016/17, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2016/17 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
22 Feb 2016

General budget 
consultation Friday 4 
December 2015 to 
Tuesday 2 February 
2016

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

National Non-Domestic 
Discretionary Rate Relief

To consider granting discretionary 
rate relief to charities or non-profit 
making organisations, or to certain 
businesses in a designated Rural 
Settlement in the Borough.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Housing Benefit 
Overpayments

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)





1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 22 
September 2015.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr A Horton (Substitute for Mr A H T Bowles), Cllr J Burden, Cllr P Clokie, 
Cllr J Cubitt, Dr M R Eddy, Cllr L Fairbrass, Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Cllr Sloan, 
Cllr H Tejan and Cllr P Todd

ALSO PRESENT: Mrs A Barnes, Mr A Harper and Mr S Nolan

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

136. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 2nd June 2015 
(Item 4)

1. The Chairman referred to para 127 (2) of the minutes, the Panel resolved to 
delegate authority to the Head of Democratic Services to take steps to achieve 
political balance via appropriate co-optees.  The Scrutiny Research Officer 
explained that the Panel had a full complement of Members with the exception of 
one Independent Member - a process was underway to fill that post.  The Panel 
comprised 14 Leader appointments, (one from each local authority in Kent) an 
additional seat for Medway Council in recognition of geographical balance, and 2 
additional Labour seats and one UKIP in recognition of political balance across 
Kent.  Councillor Tejan had joined the panel representing Medway, and Dr Eddy 
and Cllr Burden joined the panel representing the Labour group as co-optees.

2. The Chairman then referred members to para 131 of the minutes, the Panel 
resolved that the Commissioner be asked to provide an update on the Youth 
Advisory Group in early 2016, this had been included in the work programme for 
February 2016.  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 2 June 2015 were an accurate 
record and that they be signed by the Chairman.

137. Dates of 2016 Panel Meetings 
(Item 5)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the meeting dates for 2016.

138. Overall crime performance - July 2014 to June 2015 
(Item B1)



2

1. The Chairman stated that this was an important issue, one which the Panel had 
had much discussion over in the past. 

2. The Commissioner introduced the report. She said she had spent the past two 
years explaining the increase in the Force’s performance figures up to July 2014 
as a result of the improved accuracy of crime recording.  The report showed that 
the Force had continued to maintain a very high level of recording accuracy and 
the Commissioner was pleased to report that, comparing 12 months data at the 
same high level of accuracy, recorded crime had fallen by 1.5% which equalled 
1500 fewer victims of crime.  The only target set by the Home Secretary was to 
reduce crime, but for Kent it was also about reducing the number of victims of 
crime.  The Commissioner explained the history of crime recording in Kent, that 
she had commissioned HMIC to independently review crime recording accuracy 
and this found a 90% accuracy rate which was not acceptable.  Subsequently, the 
Force had worked hard to improve the accuracy of crime recording and the 
Commissioner’s Chief of Staff was previously the Crime Registrar, playing a key 
role in facilitating this work.  All numerical targets had been removed, officers had 
to provide a quality service and crime recording was now at 96-97% accuracy.  
When HMIC inspected police forces nationally, they found that levels of crime 
recording accuracy ranged from 60 – 80%.  

3. The Commissioner explained that July 2014 was the new baseline and provided a 
like for like comparison with the subsequent year’s data.  Members were referred 
to the graphs at page 19 of their meeting pack.  Kent’s crime levels initially 
increased due to the improved accuracy of crime recording, but Kent now had one 
of the lowest increases in recorded crime.  Kent had been praised nationally for its 
improvement in crime recording accuracy.  

4. The most recent data from September 2014 - August 2015 showed that the 
reduction in crime had been maintained. Whilst some offences had increased, the 
Commissioner said this reflected victims being more confident to report crimes, 
most notably domestic abuse and historic sexual offences.  The Commissioner 
confirmed that she was pleased with the progress but not complacent, stating that 
this issue was discussed at every Governance Board meeting.  The 
Commissioner explained the role of Compass House in supporting victims of 
crime, and said that a number of Panel members were due to visit Compass 
House in November to see the facilities first hand.  

5. The Chairman confirmed that there was confidence in Kent’s crime recording 
figures, recognising that it was extremely difficult to compare forces unless they 
had similar reporting accuracy rates, and this was putting HMIC in a difficult 
position when publishing comparative national data.

6. The Commissioner was congratulated on the report and the improvement in crime 
recording accuracy.  A Member asked whether fraud and internet crime was 
included in the crime figures.  The Commissioner explained that the City of 
London Police had responsibility for fraud and cyber-crime, and that the National 
Crime survey conducted by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) had not asked 
the public whether they had been victims of fraud or cyber-crime until 2015.  The 
ONS estimated that there were 3 million victims of fraud or cyber-crime last year.  
The Commissioner offered to provide a report to the Panel on fraud and cyber-
crime at a future meeting.  



3

7. One Member commented that the focus should be on reducing crime rather than 
comparing with other forces; the Commissioner agreed and explained that the 
graphs showed a comparison of year on year data for Kent Police. 

8. In response to a question about crime being properly investigated and detected, 
the Commissioner explained that this was the responsibility of the Chief 
Constable.  The Commissioner stated that this was regularly monitored through 
the Governance Board to which all Members were welcome.  

9. A concern was raised about members of the public not reporting crime because 
they did not feel it would be investigated. The Commissioner was asked how she 
was encouraging the public to report crime. The Commissioner said she 
reinforced the message that crime should always be reported at all public events.  
Rural crime in Kent was reducing, and the Commissioner offered to report back to 
the Panel on this and the Rural Task Force.

10. In response to a question about the breakdown of violent crime and sexual 
offences the Commissioner referred to domestic abuse.  The recording of 
domestic abuse had increased and the Commissioner said this was positive 
because it meant the public had greater confidence to report to the police.  Within 
the domestic abuse figures, first-time recording had increased and recording of 
repeat abuse had reduced due to victims getting the support they needed.  There 
was on-going work with partners to promote the reporting of domestic abuse, an 
awareness campaign was run during the previous football World Cup and would 
likely be run again next year.

11. In response to a question about the 101 and 999 service the Commissioner 
explained that she had recently spent time in the Force Control Room as there 
had been concerns about the 101 service.  999 calls were the top priority and if 
there was a spike in demand for the 101 service then there may be a delay in 
calls being answered. Cuts to the Force budget had resulted in fewer staff yet the 
demand had not reduced.  The majority of calls to 101 were not reporting crime, 
sometimes as low as 20% related to crime.  During July 2015 there were 4000 
extra calls to the Force Control Room regarding Operation Stack and whether 
roads were open.  

12.A Member requested that the crime clear up rate be included in future crime 
performance reports.  

RESOLVED that the Panel welcome the reduction in victims of crime, particularly 
burglaries and congratulate the Force on the high level of crime recording accuracy.  
Where there were increases, the Panel wishes to keep a watchful eye.  The Panel 
welcomes the Commissioner’s offer to report back on fraud, cyber-crime and also 
rural crime in Kent including the Rural Task Force at a future meeting.

139. Accounts 2014/15 
(Item B2)

1. The Commissioner offered her congratulations to Mr Nolan, Chief Finance Officer, 
who had just been appointed president of the Police and Crime Commissioners’ 
Treasurers Society.  



4

2. The Panel was reminded that the Force had already made savings of £50million 
in the period 2011-2015.  There were planned savings of £14.5million this year 
and further significant savings would have to be found up to 2020.  The 
Chancellor had announced another year of austerity up to 2020 and the 
Government was consulting on a new system for allocating funding between 
forces.  The Commissioner’s response to the Government’s consultation was 
attached at Appendix B of the report. 

3. Mr Nolan introduced the report which comprised the draft accounts and the 
strategy in response to the comprehensive spending review.  Members were 
reminded that the Accounts were currently draft and a number of queries were 
being worked through, but an unqualified opinion by the deadline was expected. 
The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) had been working on a 
four year plan, to the end of 2018/19 in line with the previous governments 
spending review period.  The Chancellor had expanded this period to 2019/20 
adding approximately £14million to the ‘already planned for’ savings.  The 
Chancellor was due to announce the national spending review on 25 November, 
but the impact for Kent would not be known until approximately 18/19 December 
2015.  Mr Nolan said that the current formula was not fit for purpose and the 
review was welcome, however the lack of certainty was unsatisfactory and further 
clarification would not be available until nearer Christmas.  

4. The Commissioner said that the Force and OPCC had assumed cuts of 28% (cuts 
would be between 25-40%) but this caused difficulties with the timing of OPCC 
engagement around the precept as clarity on the financial position would not be 
available until nearer Christmas.  Consultation could be carried out before 
Christmas without further detail but allowing more time for consultation or after 
Christmas with more detail but allowing less time for consultation. The 
Commissioner said she would welcome the Panel’s view on the best approach.

5. The Force was congratulated on improving its performance whilst absorbing the 
cuts they had faced in recent years.

6. The Commissioner said that the funding formula had to be fair to urban and rural 
forces; there had been very little work with partners on the issue to date.

7. A Member queried the level of reserves held by the Force. The Commissioner 
said that Kent had a prudent approach to reserves, inherited from the Police 
Authority and these were built up for capital investment as well as covering 
insurance risk and providing a buffer in case cuts were greater than planned.  The 
Commissioner referred members to the final paragraph of her letter in response to 
the Government’s consultation and the reference to reserves.  

8. A Member asked that the Panel be involved in discussions around the budget 
proposals for 2016-17 and the Commissioner confirmed that she would welcome 
engagement with the Panel.  

RESOLVED that Members congratulate the Force on its performance in managing 
the financial challenges and the Panel looks forward to engagement with the 
Commissioner around her budget proposals and expressed their support for securing 
a fair deal for Kent under the new funding formula.



5

140. Working with the Business Community 
(Item B3)

1. The Commissioner introduced the report, saying it was vital that the Force worked 
closely with the business community because being a victim could be devastating 
to some businesses.  The OPCC and the Force had a long history of working in 
partnership with the business community.  Business crime was absolutely not a 
victimless crime and the Business Crime Advisory Group had done some 
excellent work shaping the Force’s Business Crime Strategy, looking at crime 
reduction measures and providing tailored crime prevention advice.  The scope 
and nature of business crime was changing, for example, organised criminals 
from London were coming to Kent and committing large scale fraud and theft.  
Tackling issues such as this was a priority and in November 2015 the Chairman 
of the Business Crime Advisory Group and the Commissioner were hosting a joint 
business crime conference to look at crime prevention techniques, emerging 
threats and best practice with an emphasis on fraud and cyber-crime, the date 
would be confirmed to Members.

2. The Chairman queried what impact the work the Commissioner had outlined had 
had on business crime.  The Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer explained that 
the value of this work included encouraging reporting of business crime and 
moving away from the retail industry solely, to raising awareness of other serious 
threats to businesses.  The Serious Crime Directorate had presented to the 
Business Crime Advisory Group about cyber-crime, opening up opportunities for 
local businesses to share information.  The Commissioner set out the figures for 
business crime, in 2012-13 there had been 25,065 offences, 2013-14 25,297 
offences, 2014-15 25,774 offences. There had been an increase in shoplifting and 
improved crime recording accuracy had also had an impact, however the figures 
excluded all fraud offences which were reported directly to Action Fraud.  The 
Commissioner advised the Panel that there was a new national definition of 
business crime: ‘Any criminal offence that is committed against a person or 
property which is associated by the connection of that person or property to a 
business’.

3. In response to a query about the emerging issues being identified by the Business 
Crime Advisory Group, Mr Nolan explained that these included the impact of 
organised criminals and cyber-crime. 

RESOLVED that the Panel thank the Commissioner for the report and request a 
further report on business crime in September 2016.  

141. Body Worn Cameras - Verbal update 
(Item B4)

1. Mr Nolan explained that funding from the Innovation Fund had been received for 
400 body worn cameras, but unfortunately a second bid for funding was 
unsuccessful so the cameras were not rolled out across the Force.  The 400 
cameras were used in a pilot scheme which led the Chief Constable and the 
Commissioner to again discuss the impact of cameras being rolled out more 
widely. Following the Commissioner’s approval of a business case, the Chief 



6

Constable has purchased another 1600 cameras, at a cost of £1.8million over 
three years out of the capital programme (£1.4million in the current year). The 
business case included a reduction in complaints, with the Force estimating 
productivity savings of £900,000 per year as well as 2,600 less absences from 
work as a result of police officers being hurt on duty.  The cameras would be 
rolled out over the next year.

2. Panel Members were shown video footage of a stop and search captured on a 
camera worn by a Kent police officer.  The Commissioner said that the Police 
Federation supports the use of cameras as it stops malicious complaints and 
officers being injured. The Commissioner also said that they will have a knock on 
effect for the wider criminal justice system with improved evidence gathering, a 
reduction in bureaucracy and an increase in early guilty pleas as people can’t 
argue with what they see. 

3. The Vice-Chairman welcomed the use of the cameras. In answer to a question 
from the Vice-Chairman the Commissioner said that the cameras would be 
available to all frontline officers, and would become part of their daily kit in most 
cases.  Mr Harper said data would be stored in line with guidance, 7 years as 
minimum but if the data was linked to a serious crime it would be held for longer 
and then when no longer required would be destroyed in the correct manner.  

4. The Commissioner said that whilst savings achieved through the use of cameras 
was important, the cameras would also improve the safety of officers.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the update on body worn cameras.

142. Commissioner's Decisions - July, August & September 2015 
(Item C1)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the decision of the Commissioner to endorse the 
wide scale roll out of body worn cameras for frontline police officers. 

143. Future work programme 
(Item D1)

1. The Panel asked that a general discussion around the Commissioner’s budget 
proposals take place at the November meeting. 

RESOLVED that the Panel note the work programme with the inclusion of a general 
discussion around the Commissioner’s budget proposals at the November meeting.

144. Minutes of the Commissioner's Governance Board meeting held on 11th 
August 2015 
(Item E1)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Meeting Notes of the Commissioner’s 
Governance Board held on 11 August 2015.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Monday, 26 October 
2015.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr A H T Bowles, Cllr P Clokie, Cllr J Cubitt, Cllr M Dearden, Cllr M Franklin, 
Cllr B Luker, Cllr K Morris, Cllr L Weatherly (Substitute for Cllr Sloan), Cllr P Todd, 
Cllr F Wilson, Mr L Burgess (Substitute for Mr R A Latchford, OBE) and Cllr H Tejan

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mr J Cook (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

145. SUMMARY OF EXEMPT ITEM (Where Access to Minutes Remains Restricted) 
(Item 4)

The Committee resolved that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1 & 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

146. IPCC Investigation of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 
(Item 5)

1. The Chairman thanked Members for attending the additional meeting at short 
notice and stated that he hoped there would be a consensus on how the Panel 
should respond to the Independent Police Complaints Commission report.

2. Mr Campbell (Policy Officer) provided the Panel with an explanation of the 
process for dealing with a conduct matter of this type.  A conduct matter in 
relation to a Police and Crime Commissioner is defined in the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011 as a matter where a criminal offence may have 
been committed.  The Panel has a duty, under the Elected Local Policing Bodies 
(Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2011, to refer any conduct matter to the 
Independent Police Complaints Commission (IPCC).  Mr Campbell reminded the 
Panel that the Crown Prosecution Service decision not to charge the 
Commissioner and the IPCC’s report were not subject to review and that it was 
not the role of the Panel to re-investigate the matter

3. The Chairman advised the Panel that he had been made aware of the conduct 
matter by Kent Police after initial enquiries.  The Chairman instructed the 
Commissioner’s Monitoring Officer (the PCC’s Chief of Staff, who holds delegated 



authority for initial complaint handling), to refer the matter to the IPCC on behalf of 
the Panel.  This took place on 26 September 2014.

4. The Panel discussed the IPCC report.

5. RESOLVED that the Panel agreed the following conclusions on the report:
i. The Panel notes that, having considered the evidence in the IPCC 

investigation, the CPS decided not to prosecute Mrs Barnes.

ii. The Panel is very distressed that the report has taken so long to complete. In 
the Panel’s view 13 months is an inordinate length of time to take on what 
ought to have been a simple matter.

iii. The Panel is particularly disappointed that the IPCC did not interview Mrs 
Barnes until almost 5 months after the Panel referral.

iv. The Panel is very concerned that the objective of open and transparent justice 
may have been defeated by:

(a) the lengthy time taken to investigate, which meant that the CPS had to 
take a decision on prosecution without further investigation; and 

(b) the decision, without any explanation in the report, that a prosecution 
would not be in the public interest. 

v. The Panel considers that the whole process has caused damage to the Police 
and Crime Commissioner herself, to her Office and to the administration of 
justice.  

vi. The Panel requests an assurance from the Commissioner that she has 
established a system in her Office to ensure that she, and her staff, are all 
required regularly to produce evidence that they are fully insured when driving 
on business, such that a repeat of this regrettable incident cannot occur in 
future. 



               
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP: 
STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2015

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) annual Strategic Assessment 2015 document as presented to the 
Partnership on 21 January 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the committee note the contents of the Strategic Assessment as 
agreed by the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership on 
21 January 2016.

2.2 That the committee note the priorities identified by the Partnership Strategic 
Assessment.

2.3 That the committee endorse the proposal to develop a new Community 
Safety Plan to address the priorities identified and that the Plan be 
submitted to the next meeting of this Committee. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Under the Committee’s Terms of Reference, and as an Overview function, 
the Committee is required to consider the annual Strategic Assessment in 
connection with the discharge by the Community Safety Partnership, of its 
crime and disorder functions.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 Member review of the annual Dartford and Gravesham CSP Strategic 
Assessment (SA) document, contributes to the Safer Community Objective 
Strategic Aim to create a safer Borough in which to work and live. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment Member comment on the CSP 

proposals as set out in the annual 
Strategic Assessment document 
should help to focus CSP efforts on 



              
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

12 February 2016

ensuring a safer community for 
Dartford residents. 

6. Obligation of Confidence

An obligation of confidence arises as the data contained in this report, while 
not restricted, is considered to be sensitive and the Council is required to treat 
the information as confidential:

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dartford and 
Gravesham CSP 
Strategic 
Assessment 2015

December 
2015

Kit Weller,
Dartford CSU

Community 
Safety/ EARS
(ES)

Obligation of 
Confidence



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety  
Strategic Assessment 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
December 2015  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 2 
 

Contents 
 

Item Page 

Executive Summary 3 

Demographics – Contextual Backdrop 9 

  Geographical context and general population 9 

  Ethnic profile 9 

  Deprivation 10 

  Unemployment 10 

Total Recorded Crime 12 

Violent Crime 14 

  Total violent crime 14 

  Violence against the person 14 

  Sexual offences 15 

  Robbery 15 

  Domestic Abuse 16 

    Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs) 
    Domestic abuse incidents and repeat victims 
    Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Service (ISVA) 
    One-Stop Shops, Female Genital Mutilation 

 
16-21 

  Review of key activities – violent crime 22 

Substance Misuse 23 

  Kent Police recorded drug offences 23 

  West Kent Recovery Service (CRI) 24 

  Hospital admissions 25 

  Young people accessing and engaging with Specialist Treatment Services 26 

  Review of key activities – substance misuse 28 

Acquisitive and Property Crime 29 

  Burglary dwelling and burglary other than dwelling 29 

  Vehicle crime  29 

  Theft and handling (excluding vehicle interference) 30 

  Review of key activities – acquisitive and property crime 33 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 34 

  Police recorded incidents of ASB 34 

  Criminal damage 35 

  Accidental and deliberate fires 35 

  Noise nuisance 36 

  Review of key activities – anti-social behaviour 38 

Reducing Re-offending 39 

  Local adult re-offending 39 

  Integrated Offender Management 40 

  Deter Young Offenders (DYO) 41 

  Troubled Families Programme 41 

  Review of key activities – reducing re-offending 45 

Road Safety 46 

  Road Traffic Collisions and Casualties 46 

  Review of key activities – road safety 49 

Counter Terrorism and Extremism 50 

Data Ranking Tables 52 

Dartford and Gravesham CSP Contact Details 55 

 

 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 3 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
What is a Strategic Assessment? 
 
The Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategic Assessment is a report published each 
year as required by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  It gathers research, evidence and 
intelligence from Kent-wide and local sources as well as drawing upon the professional expertise of 
those working at a District level. 
 
The Assessment is designed to: 
 

 Provide a clear picture of current community safety issues; 

 Reflect trends and emerging new issues; 

 Identify locations and communities most affected by these issues; 

 Be objective and evidence-led with the aim of presenting the needs of the communities we 
serve across public service organisations. 
 

The main aim of this document is to identify those priorities that will inform a joint strategic action 
plan in order that we can tackle issues in a co-ordinated approach across Dartford and 
Gravesham.  It also acknowledges the broader commissioning landscape which formed following 
the election of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in 2012, and the findings of this 
Assessment will be shared with both the PCC’s Office and our other statutory partners to identify 
areas of common ground and further opportunities for working in collaboration. 
 
Methodology  
Most of the data relating to crime and disorder collated for this Strategic Assessment covers the 
period 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015, unless otherwise stated.  Changes to several crime 
definitions took place in 2013 which meant that year-on-year comparisons were not possible in the 
2014 Strategic Assessment, however as there have been no further changes, figures from the 
2014 Assessment can now be used as a base line for future comparisons.  It should also be noted 
that there have been significant changes in the application of Home Office Counting Rules for 
Recorded Crime introduced by Kent Police following an inspection of the force by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabularies (HMIC) in 2013.  Kent Police now operates to a very high ethical 
standard of crime recording, and HMIC found that after recommendations from their inspection 
were implemented, crimes were recorded correctly 96% of the time.  HMIC completed a review of 
every other territorial force in England & Wales during 2014, however these were not carried out to 
the same scale as the review of Kent Police and therefore no other forces have been given a 
percentage accuracy rate in the same way that Kent Police have. 
 
In recent years, Kent Police has undertaken a fundamental shift from an approach whereby 
performance management was measured primarily by meeting numerical targets, to a victim-
centred approach prioritising resources and activity according to the assessed levels of threat, 
harm and risk to the community. 
 
Crime and ASB data has been used from information published by Kent Police alongside 
information contained within the data sets provided by Kent County Council for the purpose of 
completing this Assessment.   
 
Wherever possible, data has been analysed at a local Dartford and Gravesham level.  
Comparisons are also drawn between our performance locally to performance county-wide, and 
the Partnership’s (CSP) national position within its Most Similar Group (MSG), as recorded by the 
Home Office.  The MSG is based on areas which share demographic, economic and social 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 4 
 

characteristics relating to crime, and can often provide a more meaningful context than 
comparisons with other Kent districts, which may have significant variations in these factors.  
CSPs within the MSG other than Dartford & Gravesham are shown below, preceded by the police 
force they fall under: 
 
Kent - Medway Wiltshire - Swindon 
Essex - Thurrock Cambridgeshire – Peterborough 
Essex - Basildon Hampshire – Havant 
Metropolitan Police - Havering Devon & Cornwall – Torbay 
Sussex - Crawley Greater Manchester - Stockport 
Thames Valley - Milton Keynes Greater Manchester – Bury 
Hertfordshire – Broxbourne West Yorkshire – Kirklees 
 
The key themes that have emerged from this Assessment have provided an indication of the 
priorities upon which the Partnership should concentrate its efforts over the next financial year.  
However, before reaching any final decisions, the Partnership will seek to consult as widely as 
possible to ensure that we focus on those issues that affect and matter most to our local 
neighbourhoods. 
 
Priorities from the last Strategic Assessment 
 
The priorities identified in last year’s Assessment were: 
 

 Anti-social behaviour; 

 Violent crime including domestic abuse; 

 Substance misuse (alcohol and drug-related crime and ASB); 

 Property crime (domestic burglary and theft offences); 

 Reducing re-offending; 

 Road safety. 
 

These priorities were both closely aligned with those of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner, 
as contained within her Police and Crime Plan; and to those in the Kent County Council 
Community Safety Agreement.   
 
This Assessment considers the current situation in respect of the above priorities in some detail in 
order that we can take stock of the impact that work carried out has been having in achieving 
improvements, and whether there have been any changes in circumstances that may require us to 
revise either our priorities or the approaches that we have been taking in addressing them. 
 

Recommendations 
 
Our Key Priorities for 2016-17 
 
To ensure that an objective approach is taken in assessing which issues should remain or become 
priorities for our CSP in 2016-17, a ‘theme ranking process’ has been utilised.  Each key theme is 
subjected to this process and a score provided for a number of factors as described.  When 
completing the task of ranking the themes a score has been provided on each of the 6 factors 
using the guidance.  The guidance and rankings can be found on Page 52 of this Assessment. 
 
Our key strategic objectives for the forthcoming year will be to address: 
 

 Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse; 

 Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating Criminal Damage related to ASB); 

 Acquisitive and Property Crime; 

 Substance Misuse; 

 Reducing Re-offending; 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 5 
 

 Road Safety. 
 
CSP activity delivered to address the above priorities will largely be co-ordinated through the 
Partnership’s joint, multi-agency working groups that meet on a regular basis; the Chairs of which 
report progress to the CSP Support Group.  This activity will also support the PCC’s Police and 
Crime Plan by reducing offending (a statutory objective of the Community Safety Partnership), 
bringing offenders to justice, and putting victims and witnesses first. 
 
Current and emerging issues falling within key priorities 
 
Violent Crime 

 Violence occurring in town centres (in both evening and day-time economies) – targeting key 
locations and persons identified through the DTAC scheme; 

 Violent crime that is alcohol-related (taking place in both domestic settings and in town centre 
environments) to continue to be prioritised; 

 Support for important projects e.g. IDVA, ISVA and Sanctuary Scheme which are vulnerable 
due to reductions in funding; 

 One-Stop Shop services - provision and support available to victims; 

 Continue to promote awareness of MARACs and ensure appropriate referrals are made; 

 Gaps in service – need to identify and find ways of closing them; 

 Need for stronger links between staff supporting families identified through Kent’s Troubled 
Families Programme’s and agencies which provide specialist DA support. 
 

Substance Misuse 

 Raise awareness of the dangers of New Psychoactive Substances (commonly referred to as 
‘Legal Highs’), and consider how to tackle use linked to anti-social behaviour which takes 
place in public places.  (The Psychoactive Substances Bill is currently being read in 
Parliament and aims to close loopholes which are currently exploited by those looking to profit 
from potentially harmful substances); 

 Extend partnership working between staff supporting families on the Kent Troubled Families 
Programme and local substance misuse service providers to consider how referrals to these 
services can be increased; 

 Support the CRI-led Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) initiative to improve multi-agency 
working in dealing with the needs of complex offenders who are often drug or alcohol 
dependant and who are difficult to engage or resistant to accessing support and services. 

 Continue to deliver targeted outreach work in locations where either drug and/or alcohol 
misuse is prevalent; 

 Assess the level of need for tailored work to be completed to ensure that emerging new 
communities, both individuals and families, settling in our areas are made aware of and have 
access to services. 

 Co-ordinate response to alcohol-misuse issues in line with the Kent Alcohol Strategy. 
 

Acquisitive and Property Crime 

 Targeted work in key locations to reduce repeat victimisation and provide support to 
vulnerable residents and businesses; 

 Changes in Kent Police policy in how shoplifters are dealt with presents a fresh challenge in 
how we work alongside the business community.  We must ensure that the CSP is able to 
support the business community in addressing shoplifting by helping them understand their 
role in reducing offending by deterring offenders and ensuring that information is shared 
appropriately via DTAC and GSAFE.  

 Prolific offenders should be highlighted via the Integrated Offender Management (IOM) 
process, those whose offences are linked to substance misuse issues should be the focus of 
CRI and the Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC). 

 Maintain and extend close working and information-sharing between both CSU’s, G-Safe, D-
TAC and Kent Police and the use of measures such as Exclusion Orders and powers under 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 6 
 

the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 such as; Community Protection 
Notices, Civil Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders as appropriate; 

 Carry out joint work with Kent Police Rural Teams and KCC Wardens; 

 Carry out targeted work to raise awareness of  scammers and rogue traders, particularly those 
which prey on vulnerable victims; 

 Establish any links between criminal damage offences (particularly repeat 
locations/offenders/victims) and ASB/other criminal behaviour and identify possible 
interventions; 

 Identify and develop further seasonal partnership crime prevention initiatives and campaigns; 

 Consider the use of restorative justice in resolving low-level or first time offences, in line with 
the wishes of the victim. 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour 

 Make use of the powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 where 
appropriate; 

 Extend joint working between the Troubled Families Programme, Early Help, Youth Offending 
Team and Kent Police and other relevant partner agencies (such as Housing providers) to 
ensure that there is regular and effective information-sharing, monitoring and availability of 
interventions; 
 

Reducing Re-offending 

 Support the CRI-led Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) initiative to improve multi-agency 
working in dealing with the needs of complex offenders who are often drug or alcohol 
dependant and who are difficult to engage or resistant to accessing support and services 

 Address repeat offending through Integrated Offender Management (IOM) and work to reduce 
offending in collaboration with the Community Rehabilitation Company; 

 Continue to gather further information to better understand factors influencing offending 
behaviour and to identify practical interventions and support that can help prevent re-
offending; 

 Consider how CSP partner agencies can further contribute to work being delivered through the 
Kent Troubled Families Programme to reduce offending. 
 

Road Safety 

 Continue to identify local road safety ‘hot spots’ and work with partner agencies and local 
residents to address concerns (with a particular focus on areas immediately around schools); 

 Continue to support Community Speed Watch schemes and increase the number of 
volunteers where possible; 

 Support multi-agency initiatives aimed at promoting responsible driving behaviour and raising 
awareness of issues such as driving under the influence, speeding etc. through ‘pre-driver’ 
programmes and preventative work for new drivers. 

 
 

  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 7 
 

Cross-cutting Themes 
 
The Control Strategy devised by Kent Police lists six thematic areas which have the potential to 
affect the quality of life of Kent residents and visitors.  These themes often span several areas of 
work, and will therefore underpin work in future Community Safety Plans for Dartford and 
Gravesham. 
 
Counter Terrorism and Domestic Extremism: 
Threats exist both in terms of an attack by foreign-influenced terror groups, and from individuals 
returning from fighting abroad.  Far right-wing groups will look to exploit the current climate to suit 
their own divisive aims; and issues such as the exportation of livestock from Kentish ports offer 
potential for public order situations to arise.  
 
Child Abuse & Exploitation: 
Exploitation refers to activity which makes a gain for an individual or organisation; and sexual 
exploitation or criminal exploitation are the most common reasons for young people to be 
trafficked.  Examples of threats within this area are the production of indecent images or videos; 
online abuse; and exploitation of a child victim by individuals who are unrelated to them, or by 
groups or gangs. 
 
Modern Slavery: 
Modern slavery is a brutal form of organised crime in which people are treated as commodities and 
exploited for criminal gain.  Victims may have entered the United Kingdom legally, using forged 
documentation, or clandestinely, or they may be British citizens living in the United Kingdom. 
 
Modern slavery takes a number of forms, including sexual exploitation, forced labour and domestic 
servitude.  Victims are often unwilling to come forward to law enforcement or public protection 
agencies due to failing to see themselves as victims, or fearing further reprisals from their abusers. 
 
Kent’s proximity to Europe places an increased relevance on this area of work, and police 
intelligence suggests that such exploitation could occur under the façade of businesses such as 
carwashes, restaurants, and beauty salons, amongst others. 
 
Gangs: 
The Government defines a gang as ‘a group who see themselves (and are seen by others) as a 
noticeable group, and engage in criminal activity and violence.  They may also identify with or have 
claim over territory; and/or be in conflict with other, similar gangs.’1 
 
In the context of the Control Strategy and wider police work, a gang relates to a group who carry 
out criminal activity and violence; rather than a group which congregate in an area causing anti-
social behaviour such as noise, drinking or the misuse of illegal substances such as cannabis or 
‘legal’ highs such as nitrous oxide. 
 
Intelligence shows that members of London-based gangs travel into Kent and other counties to sell 
drugs, often exploiting vulnerable individuals and using their properties to deal drugs.  Violence can 
also occur between rival gangs, or as punishment for unpaid debts. 

 
Organised Acquisitive Crime: 
An Organised Criminal Network is a group of individuals who persistently commit crime in order to 
gain from their activities in some way; either in terms of material wealth or to depict status. 
 
There can be crossover between whether a group is a ‘gang’ or an Organised Criminal Network, 
however differences are primarily about the level of criminality, organisation, planning, and 
control.2 

                                                
1
 Definition adopted by HM Government, as taken from the Centre for Social Justice’s 2009 report, Dying to Belong 

2
 HM Government Serious and Organised Crime Strategy 2013 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 8 
 

 
Such groups can either limit themselves to one type of crime, or involve themselves in several 
offence types.  Supply and importation of Class A substances remains a threat; and the Strategy 
acknowledges that burglary has great impact on Kent’s communities. 
 
Domestic Abuse, serious violence, and sexual offences: 
The CSP has acknowledged the importance of tackling domestic abuse since it was formed.  The 
Control Strategy recognises that crimes committed by intimate partners or family members account 
for around a third of all violent crime and therefore this area needs ongoing work to deter potential 
offenders; bring those who commit crimes to justice; and support victims. 
 
Wider areas of work under this theme include increasing intelligence on young women involved 
with and affected by gangs; under-reporting by minority groups and male victims; and increasing 
intelligence on forced marriages, beyond the traditional focus on communities of Indian or Asian 
heritage. 
 
Female Genital Mutilation (FGM); is the mutilation of the external female genitalia for non-
medical reasons.  FGM is child abuse and a form of violence against women and girls.  It is most 
common in the western, eastern, and north-eastern regions of Africa, in some countries in Asia and 
the Middle East, and among migrants from these areas.  It is often motivated by beliefs about what 
is considered proper sexual behaviour, linking procedures to premarital virginity and marital fidelity, 
and is often carried out on young girls between infancy and fifteen years.    
 
In September 2015 Kent Social Services took legal action in the High Court regarding a 15 year old 
girl (living in Sevenoaks but schooled in Dartford) who had been left with relatives in Sudan by her 
mother.  KCC social workers regarded the matter as urgent due to the family apparently finding 
FGM acceptable, with professionals fearing that the girl would suffer this abuse.  An FGM 
Protection Order was made by the judge and the girl was returned to the UK soon after.3  
 
Dartford has the highest estimated prevalence of FGM in Kent at 4.4 per 1,000 population with 
Gravesham at 3.7 per 1,000; evidence that Dartford’s changing demographic differs from that of 
Gravesham.  The Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 was strengthened by the Serious Crime Act 
2015 which provides a mandatory reporting duty requiring regulated health and social care 
professionals and teachers to report known cases of FGM in under 18s to the police.  This duty 
came into force in October 2015. 

 
  

                                                
3
 As reported on BBC News website, 5

th
 October 2015. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 9 
 

Demographics – Contextual Backdrop 
 
1. Geographical Context and General Population 

 
1.1 Dartford and Gravesham sit on the south bank of the Thames and are at the heart of what 

remains a key area for regeneration.  Both Boroughs are well-served by road and rail 
transport links including Ebbsfleet International which provides a high speed rail link 
between London and the Channel Tunnel, and a domestic service with a journey time of 
less than 20 minutes to St. Pancras.  Bluewater Shopping Centre, located in Dartford, 
attracts an average footfall of 27 million visitors each year and despite the national 
recession Dartford and Gravesham’s town centres remain busy with both their daytime and 
night-time economies continuing to expand and attract investment. 
 

1.2 Mid-2014 Population Estimates indicated that there were 102,200 people living in Dartford – 
the smallest number living in any Kent District, accounting for 6.8% of the County’s total 
population.  In respect of gender, 49.3% of Dartford’s population were male and 50.7% 
were female.  There were 105,300 people living in Gravesham, the second smallest Kent 
District population and representing 7.0% of the total population in the County.  49.4% of 
Gravesham residents were male and 50.6% were female.   

 
1.3 However, in terms of population density (the number of persons per hectare) Dartford had 

the highest density and Gravesham the third highest density seen in Kent Districts – and at 
levels that are significantly greater than the Kent average: 14.0 persons per hectare in 
Dartford and 10.6 persons in Gravesham compared to a Kent District average of 4.3 
persons per hectare. 

 

1.4 Both Boroughs have seen their populations continue to increase.  Dartford’s population 
grew by 1.7% in 2013-14 (the highest increase recorded in any Kent District) whilst 
Gravesham’s population grew by 1.5%.  Average growth in Kent was 1.1%.  Population 
forecasts suggest that both Boroughs’ populations will continue to grow although the 
predicted increase in Dartford’s population is significantly greater at 110,000 by 2017 and 
rising to 120,500 by 2021.  Gravesham has exceeded the predicted increases developed in 
2014, which forecast a population of 103,300 by 2016, rising to 105,100 by 2021.4 

 
1.5 The mean age of residents in Kent is 40.7 years.  Dartford’s population has the youngest 

mean age of 37.9 years and Gravesham has the third youngest mean age of 38.9 years. 
(Medway has the second youngest mean at 38.1 years.)   

 
2 Ethnic Profile 
 
2.1 Information relating to ethnicity is taken from the findings of the 2011 Census.  This 

indicated that 87.4% of Dartford’s population described themselves as being of a White 
ethnic background and 12.6% from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) background.  Within 
the BME categories, 2.9% of people described themselves as African and 2.7% as Indian. 

 
2.2 Gravesham had the most diverse population in the County with 17.2% being recorded by 

the 2011 Census as being from BME categories and 82.8% being recorded as White.  The 
most significant BME category is Indian (7.4%) followed by African (2.2%).   

 
2.3 In recent years both Boroughs have seen an increase in new migrants from EU Accession 

countries and this may in part explain the 3.7% of the population in Dartford and the 4.6% 
of the population in Gravesham who were recorded as ‘White Other’. 

 

                                                
4
 Source: KCC Strategy forecast (Oct 2014), Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 10 
 

3. Deprivation 
 
3.1 The English Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 compares levels of deprivation for each 

neighbourhood in England.  Previous Assessments have compared levels of deprivation for 
electoral ward areas in Dartford and Gravesham against other such areas in Kent, however 
the available data on the 2015 Index presents information for smaller areas, known as 
Lower-layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs), meaning ward comparison is not possible in the 
same way as in the 2014 Assessment.  Each electoral ward is comprised of around four to 
six LSOAs, and in some areas an LSOA can comprise of as few as five to ten streets.  
There are 283 electoral wards in Kent, and 902 LSOAs. 

 
3.2 The level of deprivation has increased in eight out of the twelve KCC districts relative to 

other areas in England; with Ashford and Swale seeing the largest relative increases and 
Tunbridge Wells experiencing the largest relative decrease. 

3.3 KCC has provided information on the ten percent of LSOAs experiencing the highest levels 
of deprivation.  The majority of the 26 most deprived LSOAs in the KCC area are found in 
Thanet and Swale.  The first mention of Dartford or Gravesham within this list is the 27th 
most deprived LSOA, which is an area within the Singlewell ward of Gravesham.  The 28th 
most deprived LSOA is within Northfleet North ward, and the 29th is within the Joyce Green 
ward of Dartford.  

3.4 Several other Dartford and Gravesham wards feature within the remainder of the top ten 
percent.  LSOAs within Riverside (31st highest deprivation), Westcourt (41st), Central (51st) 
and Pelham (78th) wards feature from Gravesham; and LSOAs within Swanscombe (47th), 
Littlebrook (50th), and Princes (75th) feature from Dartford. 

4. Unemployment 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.1 Unemployment rates: Dartford 
 Dartford’s unemployment rate is currently 1.2%.  This is slightly lower than the County 

average of 1.4% and lower than the national average of 1.9%.  In October 2015 there were 
760 unemployed individuals in Dartford - 1% less (8 fewer) than in September 2015 and 
17.8% less (165 fewer) than in October 2014.   

 
4.2 Unemployment rates vary across the borough.  The lowest unemployment is in Longfield, 

New Barn & Southfleet ward where 0.4% of the working age population are unemployed.  
The joint highest rate is in Joyce Green ward and Swanscombe ward, where 2.2% of the 
working age population are unemployed in each. 

 
4.3 In Dartford, 18-24 year olds account for 26.4% of all of those unemployed5.  With the 

remainder of the working-age population divided into quadrennial groups, the 18-24 group 
accounts for a higher proportion of unemployment than any other age bracket.  Within the 

                                                
5
 2013 NOMIS Claimant Count Data 

  

Total 
unemployed 
as at October 

2015 

Resident 
based rate 

% 

Change since previous 
month 

Change since previous 
year 

  Number % Number % 

Dartford 760 1.20%  ‐8 ‐1.0%  ‐165  ‐17.8% 

Gravesham  1,237 1.90%  ‐34 ‐2.7%  ‐150  ‐10.8% 

Kent  12,970 1.40% +107 0.8%  ‐2,602  ‐16.7% 

Great Britain  751,795 1.90% ‐29,169  ‐4.0% ‐334,498  ‐39.4% 

Source: NOMIS - Claimant Count 

    



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 11 
 

general population of Dartford, the unemployment rate within the 18-24 age group is 2.1%6. 
This is 0.8% higher than the next largest age group; 25-29. 

 
Unemployment rates: Gravesham 

4.4  Gravesham’s unemployment rate is currently 1.9%.  This is higher than the County average 
of 1.4% and matches the national average of 1.9%.  In October 2015 there were 1,237 
unemployed individuals in Gravesham - 2.7% lower (34 fewer) than September 2015 and 
10.8% lower (150 fewer) than October 2014. 
 

4.5 Unemployment rates vary across the district.  The joint lowest unemployment is in 
Meopham North ward and Meopham South & Vigo ward where 0.5% of the working age 
population are unemployed.  The highest rate is in Northfleet North where 2.9% of the 
working age population are unemployed. 

 
4.6 The majority of those unemployed in Gravesham are also in the 18-24 year age group.  In 

Gravesham, this group account for 25.6% of all of those unemployed in the Borough 
(compared to the Kent proportion of 26.5%).  In Gravesham, the unemployment rate within 
the general population aged 18-24 is 3.4%.  This is 1.4% higher than the next largest group; 
the 55-59 group, where unemployment is at 2.0%.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                
6
 October 2015 data provided by Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council Source: ‘NOMIS; Stat X‐Plore’ 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 12 
 

Total Recorded Crime 
 
1. Total Recorded Crime in Dartford and Gravesham  
 
1.1 Crime data published by Kent Police is considered below for the 12-month period from 1 

October 2014 to 30 September 2015.  Changes to Home Office Counting Rules and the 
definitions of a range of crime categories mean that year-to-year comparative analysis was 
not possible for periods before 2014-15.  This section considers total crime data and is 
followed by a more detailed analysis of those crime categories that have formed our 
strategic priorities during the year or that are most prevalent in our Boroughs. 

 
1.2 In the period October 2014-September 2015, there were 7,986 offences recorded in total in 

Dartford and 7,243 offences recorded in Gravesham.  These figures equate to 82.7 
offences per 1,000 population in Dartford and 74.2 offences per 1,000 population in 
Gravesham compared with a County average rate of 63.4 offences.  Dartford experienced 
the second highest rate in Kent whilst the rate in Gravesham was the fourth highest in Kent. 

 
Total recorded crime per 1,000 population in Kent October 2014-September 2015 

 

 Area 
No. of 

offences 
2015 rate per 

1,000 pop. 
2014 rate per 

1,000 pop. 

Ashford 6361 51.6 57.5 

Canterbury 8997 57.1 58.7 

Dartford 7986 78.1 82.7 

Dover 6537 57.8 59.1 

Gravesham 7243 68.8 74.2 

Maidstone 9178 56.7 59.0 

Sevenoaks 5592 47.5 48.2 

Shepway 6197 56.6 59.6 

Swale 9533 67.7 73.9 

Thanet 11346 82.0 91.0 

Tonbridge & Malling 5633 45.3 45.7 

Tunbridge Wells 5040 43.4 43.2 

KCC Total 89643 59.4 62.7 

Medway 19260 70.3 67.0 

Kent 108903 61.0 63.4 

 
1.3 Most Districts have achieved a reduction in the number of offences per 1,000 population 

since the 2014 Assessment.  The exceptions to this are Tunbridge Wells, which has seen a 
negligible increase of roughly one crime per ten-thousand residents; and Medway which 
has seen a rise of 3.3 crimes per thousand residents.  Dartford has seen a reduction of 4.6 
crimes per thousand, with a 5.4 crimes per thousand reduction in Gravesham.  

 
1.4 In respect of total crime, comparisons with other CSPs in the Most Similar Group (MSG) 

indicate that in the year ending 30 September 2015, our CSP was in 13th position, 
therefore the level of crime overall was higher than the average experienced by areas with 
similar demographics.  Dartford & Gravesham CSP’s crimes per 1,000 population rate of 
73.4 compared to the MSG average of 69.6. 

 
  
 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 13 
 

Total recorded crime in Dartford October 2014 -September 2015 

      

Category 
Volume 

YE Sep 15 
Volume 

YE Sep 14 No. change % change 
2015 rate 

per 1,000 pop. 

Victim based crime 7522 7795 -273 -3.5 73.6 

Violent Crime 2215 2109 106 5.0 21.7 

- Violence Against The Person 1995 1890 105 5.6 19.5 

- Sexual Offences 146 136 10 7.4 1.4 

- Robbery 74 83 -9 -10.8 0.7 

Burglary Dwelling 240 401 -161 -40.1 2.3 

Burglary Other than Dwelling 439 613 -174 -28.4 4.3 

Vehicle Crime 798 803 -5 -0.6 7.8 

- Theft Of Motor Vehicle 285 213 72 33.8 2.8 

- Theft From Motor Vehicle 513 572 -59 -10.3 5.0 

Vehicle Interference 85 85 0 0.0 0.8 

Theft and Handling 2513 2587 -74 -2.9 24.6 

- Shoplifting 1201 1195 6 0.5 11.8 

- Theft of Pedal cycle 85 76 9 11.8 0.8 

- Other Theft 1227 1316 -89 -6.8 12.0 

Criminal Damage 1232 1197 35 2.9 12.1 

Crimes against society 464 523 -59 -11.3 4.5 

Drug Offences 158 204 -46 -22.5 1.5 

Possession of weapons 18 13 5 38.5 0.2 

Public order offences 198 212 -14 -6.6 1.9 

Other crimes 90 94 -4 -4.3 0.9 

Total Crime 7986 8318 -332 -4.0 78.1 

      Total recorded crime in Gravesham October 2014 -September 2015 

      

Category 
Volume 

YE Sep 15 
Volume 

YE Sep 14 No. change % change 
2015 rate 

per 1,000 pop. 

Victim based crime 6783 7180 -397 -5.5 64.4 

Violent Crime 2244 2278 -34 -1.5 21.3 

- Violence Against The Person 2030 2032 -2 -0.1 19.3 

- Sexual Offences 121 147 -26 -17.7 1.1 

- Robbery 93 99 -6 -6.1 0.9 

Burglary Dwelling 386 478 -92 -19.2 3.7 

Burglary Other than Dwelling 642 618 24 3.9 6.1 

Vehicle Crime 692 695 -3 -0.4 6.6 

- Theft Of Motor Vehicle 221 190 31 16.3 2.1 

- Theft From Motor Vehicle 471 505 -34 -6.7 4.5 

Vehicle Interference 89 93 -4 -4.3 0.8 

Theft and Handling 1580 1703 -123 -7.2 15.0 

- Shoplifting 438 509 -71 -13.9 4.2 

- Theft of Pedal cycle 52 97 -45 -46.4 0.5 

- Other Theft 1090 1097 -7 -0.6 10.4 

Criminal Damage 1150 1315 -165 -12.5 10.9 

Crimes against society 460 521 -61 -11.7 4.4 

Drug Offences 132 185 -53 -28.6 1.3 

Possession of weapons 20 23 -3 -13.0 0.2 

Public order offences 196 212 -16 -7.5 1.9 

Other crimes 112 101 11 10.9 1.1 

Total Crime 7243 7701 -458 -5.9 68.8 

 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 14 
 

Violent Crime 
 
1. Total Violent Crime 
 
1.1 ‘Violent crime’ covers a wide range of offences including murder, manslaughter, GBH, ABH 

and other assaults without injury, threats to kill, harassment, sexual offences and robbery.  In 
the year ending 30 September 2015, Dartford recorded a greater number of violent crime 
offences than the previous year (by 5%), while Gravesham was the only area in Kent to record 
fewer than in 2014.  In Dartford, there were 2,215 violent offences recorded, 106 offences more 
than 2014 whilst in Gravesham, 2244 violent offences were recorded – 34 offences less than 
2014 (1.5% less).  Across Kent and Medway, percentage increases range between 1.9% and 
15.1%.  Violent crime accounts for nearly a third of total crime across Kent and Medway; 28% 
in Dartford; and 31% in Gravesham. 

 
1.2 Figures indicate that levels of violent crime per 1,000 population in Dartford and Gravesham 

are higher than the Kent average: 21.7 offences and 21.3 offences respectively compared to a 
County average of 19.3 offences.    

 
Violent crime October 2014-September 2015 

 

Area 
No. of offences 

2015 
No. of offences 

2014 % change 
2015 offences 
per 1,000 pop. 

Ashford 1893 1858 +1.9 15.4 

Canterbury 2849 2483 +14.7 18.1 

Dartford 2215 2109 +5.0 21.7 

Dover 2300 2161 +6.4 20.3 

Gravesham 2244 2278 -1.5 21.3 

Maidstone 2943 2612 +12.7 18.2 

Sevenoaks 1283 1213 +5.8 10.9 

Shepway 2241 2110 +6.2 20.5 

Swale 2843 2657 +7.0 20.2 

Thanet 4024 3750 +7.3 29.1 

Tonbridge & Malling 1579 1376 +14.8 12.7 

Tunbridge Wells 1605 1395 +15.1 13.8 

KCC Total 28026 26002 +7.8 18.6 

Medway 6367 5642 +12.9 23.2 

Kent 34393 31644 +8.7 19.3 

 
2.1 The majority of violent crime offences occurring in both Dartford and Gravesham in the 12 

months ending 30 September 2015 fell under the ‘violence against the person’ (VATP) 
category.  This category covers offences ranging in severity from assault without injury to 
murder, however does not include robberies or sexual offences.  There were 1,995 VATP 
offences recorded in Dartford (105 offences more than in 2014) and equating to 19.5 offences 
per 1,000.  Gravesham recorded 2,030 offences of violence against the person (2 offences 
fewer than in 2014) and translating as 19.3 offences per 1,000 population.  These rates are 
higher than the County average rate of 17.1 offences.  It should be noted however, that many 
violence against the person offences will be minor assaults, and on further investigation some 
of these will inevitably be found to be accidental contact with no malicious intent, rather than 
situations where force has intentionally been used.  Serious violent crime remains rare in both 
our Boroughs.   

 
2.2 In terms of MSG ranking for violence against the person, our CSP is in 9th position at the end of 

September 2015.  The MSG average per 1,000 population is 20.2, with Dartford & Gravesham 
sitting slightly above this at 20.6, and significantly below the highest; 27.5 offences. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 15 
 

2.3 Dartford & Gravesham CSP is also in 9th position in the MSG regarding the more serious 
violence offences, classified as wounding.  The MSG average is 7.5 offences per 1,000 
population, with Dartford and Gravesham sitting slightly above this at 7.8 offences.  The 
highest rate in the MSG is 9.9 offences per 1,000 population.   

 
Pattern of Recorded Violence Against the Person – Dartford 

 

 
 

Pattern of Recorded Violence Against the Person – Gravesham 
 

 
 
2.4 Council Wards in which violence against the person offences occurred most frequently 

were: Town, Newtown and Swanscombe wards in Dartford and Riverside, Central, and 
Pelham wards in Gravesham. 

 
3. Sexual offences 
 
3.1 There were 146 sexual offences recorded in Dartford in the year ending 30 September 

2015 - 10 more than in 2014.  However, sexual offences are still rare and amount to 1.4 
offences per 1,000 population – very slightly less than the Kent-wide average rate of 1.6 
offences per 1,000 population.  Gravesham had a slightly lower rate, with a total of 121 
offences recorded (26 offences less than in 2014) and equating to 1.1 offences per 1,000 
population.   

 
3.2 In terms of our CSP ranking within our MSG for sexual offences, we were in 2nd position, 

with 1.3 offences per 1,000 population.  The lowest rate in the MSG was 1.0; the average 
1.9; and the highest 2.4. 

 
4. Robbery 
 
4.1 Recorded offences of robbery suggest that such incidents occur rarely in both Dartford and 

Gravesham.  In the year ending 30 September 2014, 74 robberies were recorded in 
Dartford (9 less than in 2014) and translating to 0.7 offences per 1,000 population.  In 
Gravesham, 93 robberies were recorded (6 less than last year) and equating to 0.9 
offences per 1,000 population.  In real terms figures are very low although they are 
fractionally higher than the Kent-wide average rate of 0.6 offences per 1,000 population 
(Gravesham’s volume being the second highest in Kent behind Thanet at 1.0) and this is 

158 153 163 145 145 153 171 169 160 215 190 173 

-100000

-50000

0

50000

100000

0

50

100

150

200

250

Oct 14 Nov 14 Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15
This year

155 147 151 171 149 169 183 174 180 213 203 135 

-100000

-50000

0

50000

100000

0

50

100

150

200

250

Oct 14 Nov 14 Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15
This year



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 16 
 

echoed with our MSG ranking for robbery offences – 11th position and slightly higher than 
the average. 

 
5. Domestic Abuse 
 
5.1 Domestic abuse has been a local, County-wide and national priority for many years and 

work to address this issue has continued to develop through Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conferences (MARAC) to deal with the most serious of cases; the commissioning of an 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Service (IDVA); and a close-working relationship 
between service providers at a very local level through the North Kent Domestic Abuse 
Forum.   

 
5.2 Domestic abuse has and continues to account for a considerable proportion of violent 

crime, as well as being a fundamental feature of other offences such as criminal damage. 
Its prioritisation is not just in response to the serious nature of the behaviour involved but is 
also necessitated by the volume of incidents that are being recorded – made all the more 
significant as this is one crime category that has historically suffered from considerable 
under-reporting. 

 
5.3 ‘Domestic violence and abuse’ is defined as: 
 

'Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners 
or family members, regardless of gender or sexuality. This can encompass but is not limited 
to the following types of abuse:  
 
• psychological 
• physical 
• sexual 
• financial  
• emotional  
 

5.4 The Serious Crime Act 2015 created a new offence of controlling or coercive behaviour in 
intimate or familial relationships under Section 76 of the Act.  This came into effect on 29th 
December 2015, and closes a gap in the law around patterns of controlling or coercive 
behaviour in an ongoing relationship between intimate partners or family members.  The 
offence carries a maximum sentence of 5 years’ imprisonment, a fine or both.  

 
5.5 Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs) 
 
5.5.1 MARACs are meetings where information about high-risk domestic abuse victims (those at 

risk of murder or serious harm) is shared between local agencies.  By bringing all agencies 
together at a MARAC, a risk-focused, co-ordinated safety plan can be drawn together to 
support the victim.  MARACs now cover all persons aged 16 years and over.  

 
5.5.2 In the 12 months ending 30 September 2015, there were 144 Dartford cases handled by a 

MARAC compared to 141 in the previous 12 months – an increase of 2.1%.  Gravesham 
had a significantly higher starting point, and saw a reduction from 170 to 164 cases (3.5%).  
These figures compare to a Kent-wide increase of 18.3%. 

 
5.5.3 The percentage of Dartford cases that concerned repeat victims rose from 26% to 30% 

during these periods whilst in Gravesham, the percentage of repeat victims involved in 
cases coming to a MARAC decreased significantly from 37% to 28%.  The Kent-wide 
average rate of repeat MARAC victims in the year ending 30 September 2015 was 26.4%. 

  
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 17 
 

MARAC Case figures for Dartford, Gravesham, and Kent 
 

MARAC Cases 
Measure 
 

Dartford Gravesham Kent 

Oct 13-
Sept 14 

Oct 14-
Sept 15 

Oct 13-
Sept 14 

Oct 14-
Sept 15 

Oct 13-
Sept 14 

Oct 14-
Sept 15 

Total no. of cases 141 144 170 164 1833 2196 

No. of repeat cases 37 42 63 46 488 579 

Repeat cases % 26% 30% 37% 28% 26.6% 26.4 

No. of children in 
households 

 
175 

 
159 

 
189 

 
188 

 
2420 

 
2866 

No. of BME cases 26 22 44 40 198 240 

No. of LGBT cases 0 1 0 0 5 14 

No. of cases with 
registered disabilities 

 
0 

 
0 

 
1 

 
3 

 
33 

 
50 

No. of male victims 2 4 5 8 46 65 

Victims under 18* 2 2 2 1 25 33 

Perpetrators under 18* 0 0 0 0 14 17 

 
5.5.4 What is of interest is that in the year ending 30 September 2015, 15.3% of Dartford MARAC 

cases and 24.3% of Gravesham cases, involved victims from a BME background.  
Proportionally these figures are higher than we would expect taking the overall BME 
populations of our Boroughs into account (12.6% in Dartford and 17.2% in Gravesham). 

 
5.6 Recorded incidents of domestic abuse and percentage of repeat victims 
 

Domestic Abuse incidents reported to police each month 
 

 
 
5.6.1 There were 1,638 incidents of domestic abuse in Dartford recorded by Kent Police in the 

year ending 30 September 2015 and 2,042 incidents recorded in Gravesham.  In terms of 
incidents per 1,000 population this translates to a rate of 16.0 offences in Dartford and 19.4 
offences in Gravesham compared to a Kent-wide average rate of 16.3 offences.  

 
5.6.2  Repeat Victim rates are provided by Kent Police as rolling figures over the financial year, 

therefore the following table shows rates at the end of the previous two financial years 
rather than rates for the October to September reporting period of this Assessment.  Kent 
districts generally see 30-40% of incidents in the first month (April) involve victims who have 
previously reported an incident to police, and over the course of the financial year this rate 
generally drops to the mid to low twenties.  Theoretically, this means that over the course of 
a year around twenty in one hundred victims either leave abusive relationships; see their 
relationships cease to be violent; or stop reporting incidents to police. 

 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

O
ct

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
p

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

Se
p

Dartford '14

Dartford '15

Gravesham '14

Gravesham '15



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 18 
 

Domestic Abuse Incidents – Percentage of Repeat Victims 
 

 
 
Area 

Domestic abuse incidents 
Oct 2014-Sept 2015 

 
% of repeat victims 

 
Volume 

Per 1,000 
pop. 

Apr 2013- 
March 2014 

Apr 2014- 
March 2015 

Ashford 1753 14.2 24.2% 37.3% 

Canterbury 2125 13.5 24.9% 23.9% 

Dartford 1638 16.0 24.7% 23.4% 

Dover 1863 16.5 24.6% 25.0% 

Gravesham 2042 19.4 25.2% 23.9% 

Maidstone 2278 14.1   24.3% 26.0% 

Sevenoaks 1194 10.1 23.8% 22.8% 

Shepway 1695 15.5 25.0% 25.4% 

Swale 2622 18.6 24.9% 23.4% 

Thanet 3417 24.7 25.0% 25.1% 

Tonbridge and Malling 1519 12.2 26.2% 25.4% 

Tunbridge Wells 1319 11.4 25.0% 25.8% 

KCC Districts 23465 15.5 24.8% 25.6% 

Medway 5613 20.5 25.7% 24.6% 

Kent 29078 16.3 25.0% 25.3% 

 
5.6.3 A measure of success is how low the figure at the end of the financial year is, and how 

quickly the rate can be reduced.  Both Dartford and Gravesham have seen improvements in 
the percentage of repeat victims involved in the overall number of domestic incidents 
recorded, and in the year ending 31 March 2015 both areas’ repeat victimisation rates were 
below the County average: 23.4% in Dartford and 23.9% in Gravesham compared to a 
Kent-wide rate of 25.3%. 

 
5.7 Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Service (IDVA) 
 
5.7.1 Co-commissioned dedicated IDVA services continue to be delivered in Dartford and 

Gravesham through Choices (formerly North Kent Women’s Aid [NKWA]) who have 
provided refuge accommodation for victims from both our Boroughs for many years.  In 
addition, they run a helpline, provide outreach services, co-ordinate and facilitate the 
Freedom Programme.  NKWA also deliver a programme to encourage healthy relationships 
to schools and youth groups as well as work commissioned by Kent County Council to 
address the impact of domestic abuse on children and young people. 

 
5.7.2 Information on the number of clients and impact of IDVA services has been provided for this 

Assessment for the period April 2014-March 2015 with comparisons being made to the 
same period in the previous year.  In both Dartford and Gravesham, the IDVA is achieving 
positive results and increases have been seen in the number of referrals being handled.  
There were 180 new Dartford referrals in the 12 months ending March 2015 – an increase 
of 96% compared to the same period the previous year – whilst Gravesham received 204 
new referrals – an increase of 36%.  The number of children referred has also increased by 
132% in Dartford referrals and 41% in Gravesham referrals. 

 
5.7.3  93% of all Dartford MARAC cases and 100% of all Gravesham MARAC cases referred to 

IDVA services during April 2014-March 2015 received support (of those who did not, 
alternative support will have been offered or services were refused).  Engagement rates are 
70% for Dartford clients and 73% for Gravesham.  In Dartford, the national ‘Safelives’ 
safeguarding benchmarks were met in 8 out of 10 areas, with compliance only just missed 
in two areas (by only two percentage points in one criteria).  In Gravesham, 9 out of 10 
benchmarks were met. 

 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 19 
 

Dartford IDVA Service – Key Information April 2014-March 2015 
 

 
 

5.7.4 The services monitor clients’ economic independence and stability.  In both Dartford and 
Gravesham 86% of clients felt the service had a positive or very positive effect on their 
economic stability.  In terms of their housing stability, 69% of clients in Dartford, and 67% in 
Gravesham felt that the service had a positive or very positive impact. 

 
Gravesham IDVA Service – Key Information April 2014-March 2015 

 

 
 

5.7.5 Other key performance measures employed by the IDVA services include the level of risk 
for each client as assessed by their IDVA, and how much safer clients feel once they have 
accessed the services.  Between April 2014-March 2015, 93% of Dartford clients and 91% 
of Gravesham clients were assessed as being at significantly or moderately less risk; and 
86% of Dartford clients and 100% of Gravesham clients stated that they now felt either 
much safer or somewhat safer than they did before accessing the services. 

 
5.8 One-Stop Shops  
 
5.8.1 Domestic Abuse One Stop Shops offer free advice, information and support from a range of 

agencies under one roof to help victims of domestic abuse.  Typically each One Stop Shop 
is open for 2-3 hours, once a week; no appointment is necessary, members of the public 
seeking assistance can just turn up to speak to the professionals in attendance.  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 20 
 

Information regarding the take-up of One-Stop Shop services has been provided by the 
Kent and Medway Domestic Abuse Strategy Group for the 12 month period July 2014-June 
2015, and previous 12 month periods. 

 
Number of visitors to One-Stop Shop Services 

 
 
5.8.2 Visitor numbers do reduce in some areas around Bank Holiday and other holiday times 

(people may not have as many opportunities to visit due to other commitments/priorities 
rather than lack of need).  In Dartford, the busiest month was September 2014 with 14 
visitors, whilst the quietest month was November 2014 with 4 visitors.  In Gravesham, the 
busiest months were October 2014 and February 2015 with 14 visitors in each, and the 
quietest month was December 2014 with 6 visitors. 

 
5.8.3 Commonly visitors reside in the same Local Authority area as the One-Stop Shop they visit.  

However, of all the areas offering the service, Dartford has the second highest proportion of 
visitors (19%) that attend who come from outside the Borough.  In Gravesham, 20% of 
visitors are not residents of the Borough – the highest in Kent.  This is a large increase on 
last year, when only 6% of Gravesham visitors were from outside the borough.  15% of 
visitors to the Dartford One-Stop Shop attended more than once, whilst 17% of visitors in 
Gravesham were repeat visitors.  In both areas staff from Choices assisted the highest 
number of visitors, although a number of other professionals are present at each shop.  
Visitors were asked if there were any services they would have liked to access which were 
not available when they attended.  In Dartford there were five visitors who wanted legal 
advice and five seeking housing advice. In Gravesham two sought legal advice, and one 
health advice. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 21 
 

 
5.8.4 In terms of gender, the vast majority of visitors in both Boroughs were female: 99% in both 

Dartford and Gravesham in the 12 months ending 31 July 2015.  In Dartford, 67% of visitors 
described themselves as ‘White British.’  The second largest group were the 9% of visitors 
who described themselves as ‘Black/Black British - African.’  In Gravesham 62% of 
attendees described themselves as ‘White British.’  The second largest group were the 12% 
of visitors who described themselves as ‘Black/Black British - African’.  Gravesham visitors 
had the highest levels of ethnic diversity of all One-Stop Shops in the County, followed by 
Dartford.  The majority of visitors overall were between the ages of 26-39 years old. 

 
5.8.5 Visitors are asked to provide details of the number of children in their household.  In 

Dartford, there were a total of 170 children and in Gravesham there were 192 children in 
the households of visitors during the 12 months ending 31 July 2015.   

 
5.8.6 Visitors attending these services are also asked to report how helpful they felt the 

information provided had been.  It is very positive that in Dartford 97% of visitors felt the 
visit had been helpful.  Data was not captured for the remaining 3% of visitors.  In 
Gravesham 84% felt the visit had been helpful, 1% thought it had not been helpful, and no 
response was recorded for 15% of attendees.’  Across Kent, 72% of visitors thought the 
experience had been helpful, with information not being captured in 28% of cases. 

 
6.1 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 
 
6.1.1 In October 2014 NHS figures revealed 467 patients nationally had sought treatment relating 

to FGM in the previous month.  At the same time the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre estimated there were 1,279 patients already receiving treatment, and estimated that 
there may be up to 170,000 women and girls living in the UK who had undergone FGM.  
Data shows that the crime is happening in all regions, although half of the reported cases 
were in London. 

 
FGM rates in Kent per 1,000 women in the population 

Ashford 0.9 

Canterbury 1.4 

Dartford 4.4 

Dover 0.4 

Gravesham 3.7 

Maidstone 0.7 

Sevenoaks 0.8 

Shepway 0.5 

Swale 0.8 

Thanet 0.9 

Tonbridge & Malling 0.4 

Tunbridge Wells 0.5 

Kent 1.2 
 Source: Prevalence of FGM in England and Wales: National and Local Estimates, City University London, July 2015  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 22 
 

Review of key activities – violent crime and domestic abuse 
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address violent 
crime and domestic abuse in 2015 

 Continued delivery of the Sanctuary Scheme in conjunction with KF&RS to assist victims 
of domestic abuse in remaining in their own homes by improving security; 

 Both Dartford and Gravesham Councils have provided financial support to help meet the 
costs of providing the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Service; 

 Both Dartford and Gravesham continue to offer One-Stop Shop sessions for victims of 
domestic abuse with feedback suggesting the services provided are very helpful; 

 Delivery of the Positive Relationship Programme by Choices (formerly NKWA) to children 
and young people aged 5-15 years affected by domestic abuse; 

 Provision of CSU funding to the Community Domestic Abuse Programme to allow 4 CRI 
clients with alcohol dependency issues to take part in the programme; 

 Loves Me, Loves Me Not Programme established by Choices (formerly NKWA) for 11-16 
year olds (particularly for those who have been victims of or witnessed domestic abuse) 
through mixed sessions and 1-1 mentoring; 

 Provision of financial support by both Dartford and Gravesham CSUs towards the 
Independent Sexual Violence Advisor post based at Family Matters, Gravesend; 

 Financial contribution towards and the promotion of the services provided by the Hate 
Crime Reporting Line; 

 Targeted work to encourage those with alcohol dependency issues who then either 
become involved in violence as perpetrators or are vulnerable to violence as victims, into 
treatment services. 

 

 
  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 23 
 

Substance Misuse 

 
1. Provision of key data 
 
1.1 In addition to Kent Police recorded data relating to drug offences, this Assessment includes 

information provided by the West Kent Recovery Service (CRI) to enable a better 
understanding of types of substance misuse experienced by clients and some of their 
circumstances.  Further information has also been obtained from the Kent and Medway 
Public Health Observatory to demonstrate the numbers of people in our areas having 
recourse to health services due to substance misuse-related problems.  

 
2. Kent Police recorded drug offences 
 
2.1 ‘Drug offences’ includes both offences of drug supply and of drug possession.  There were 

158 drug offences recorded in Dartford in the year ending 30 September 2015, 46 offences 
fewer than the 2014 figure.  Gravesham recorded 132 offences and 33 offences fewer than 
in 2014.  The rates of drug offences per 1,000 population in each Borough are also low: 1.5 
offences in Dartford and 1.3 offences in Gravesham compared to an average rate of 1.6 
offences per 1,000 population County-wide.  It is worth remembering that drug offences are 
generally only recorded by police as a result of a proactive operation or intelligence-led 
searches; rather than having an aggrieved party who brings the crime to the attention of 
police, as is the case with assaults or burglaries. 

 
Pattern of Drug Offences – Dartford 

 

 
 

Pattern of Drug Offences – Gravesham 
 

 
 
2.2 Our CSP’s position within our MSG also reflects that recorded offences have fallen to well 

below the MSG average and in September 2015 we were in second position with 1.4 
offences per 1,000 population.  The average rate was 2.3, and the highest in the group was 
3.8. 

 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 24 
 

3. West Kent Recovery Service (CRI) Client Data 
 
3.1 This year’s Assessment has the benefit of data provided by the commissioned West Kent 

Recovery Service (CRI) that provides a useful insight into the range of substance misuse 
problems experienced by Dartford and Gravesham clients seeking help and their 
circumstances.  CRI’s main premises are based in Gravesend whilst a satellite service 
operates from the YMCA in Dartford and to increase take up of services, CRI also cover the 
cost of travel expenses for Dartford clients prepared to travel to Gravesham for services 
where these are not available locally.  Figures relate to the client base as at September 
2015.   

 
3.2 In September 2015, CRI had 707 clients from the Dartford & Gravesham area in structured 

treatment.  The vast majority of clients classified themselves as ‘White British’: 593 or 
83.9% clients.  The second most common ethnic group in treatment described themselves 
as ‘Indian’ (44 clients or 7.4%). 

 
3.3 As indicated in the table below in respect of age, the largest client age group is 35-44.  The 

number of clients in the groups either side of this roughly mirror each other; accounting for 
a smaller number the further the group is from 35-44.  There are 183 and 173 in the 25-34 
group and 45-54 group respectively; and 47 and 54 in the 18-24 and 55-64 groups 
respectively.  

 
Age range of CRI Dartford & Gravesham clients –September 2015 

 

 
Age range 

 

No. % 

18-24 47 6.5% 

25-34 183 25.9% 

35-44 235 33.2% 

45-54 173   24.5% 

55-64 54 7.6% 

65 and over 15 2.1% 

Total 707 100.0% 

 
3.4 Clients are asked to provide some personal details about their marital status and any 

disabilities they may have.  The largest proportion of both Dartford and Gravesham clients 
stated that they had ‘Never married or been in a same-sex civil partnership;’ 313 or 44.2% 
of clients.  Fifty clients or 7.1% were divorced, and 31 or 4.4% were separated/separated 
but still legally married.   

 
3.5 The vast majority of clients recorded that they did not have a disability: 539 or 76.2%.  Of 

those clients who did record having a disability, the most common was ‘Mental Health 
Difficulties;’ 41 or 5.8%, followed by ‘Mobility Impairment;’ which 21 (3.0%) of clients 
experienced. 

 
3.6 The table below provides details of the primary substance being misused by clients.  It is 

important to note however, that this information provides details of usage of the current 
client base as at September 2015 and that recovery programmes for the misuse of heroin 
and alcohol will generally be lengthier; i.e. clients will remain ‘on the books’ for longer than 
others being treated with less complex addictions who may have completed their recovery 
and not appear in these figures. 

 
 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 25 
 

Primary substance use of Dartford & Gravesham CRI - September 2015 
 

Substance No. % 

Alcohol unspecified 376 53.2 

Amphetamines unspecified 2 0.3 

Cannabis 40 5.7 

Codeine 26 3.7 

Diazepam 3 0.4 

Dihydrocodeine 1 0.1 

Heroin 209 29.6 

Mephedrone 1 0.1 

Methadone 2 0.3 

Methamphetamine 2 0.3 

Other opiates 26 3.7 

Other prescribed drug 2 0.3 

Stimulants 1 0.1 

Tramadol hydrochloride 4 0.6 

 
4. Hospital Admissions linked to Substance Misuse 
 
4.1 Data within this section refers to hospital admissions and not to Accident & Emergency 

attendances.  Local Authority Ward references relate to the patients’ place of residence. 
 
4.2 Hospital Admissions – Psychoactive Substance Use 
  
4.2.1 Data presented relates to admissions due to mental and behavioural disorders due to 

psychoactive substance use including alcohol, opioids, cannabinoids, sedatives, hypnotics, 
cocaine, hallucinogens, volatile substances and other psychoactive substances. 

 
Admissions – Psychoactive Substance Use – Dartford residents 

1 September 2014-31 August 2015 
 

No. of admissions 310 admissions 

No. of Individuals admitted 202 individuals 

Wards with highest  no. of admissions Stone (32), Swanscombe (36), Joyce Green 
(31) 

Gender Predominantly male 

Predominant age range(s) 45-64 years 

 
 

Admissions – Psychoactive Substance Use – Gravesham residents 
1 September 2014-31 August 2015 

 

No. of admissions 392 admissions 

No. of Individuals admitted 222 individuals 

Wards with highest  no. of admissions Pelham (50), Northfleet North (50), Riverside 
(50) 

Gender Predominantly male 

Predominant age range(s) 45-64 years 

 
4.3 Hospital Admissions – Alcohol 
 
4.3.1 Data presented relates to hospital admissions where patients have shown evidence of 

alcohol involvement by blood alcohol levels or levels of intoxication or the toxic effects of 
alcohol. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 26 
 

Admissions – Alcohol – Dartford residents 
1 September 2014-31 August 2015 

 

No. of admissions 47 admissions 

No. of Individuals admitted 40 individuals 

Wards with highest  no. of admissions Stone (7), Swanscombe (6), Greenhithe (5) 

Gender Balanced between males and females 

Predominant age range(s) 25-44 years 

 
Admissions – Alcohol– Gravesham residents 

1 September 2014-31 August 2015 
 

No. of admissions 56 admissions 

No. of Individuals admitted 44 individuals 

Wards with highest  no. of admissions Central (10), Northfleet North (8), Westcourt 
(6) 

Gender Balanced between males and females 

Predominant age range(s) 25-44 years 

 
5. Young People Accessing and Engaging with Specialist Substance Misuse Treatment 

Services 
 
5.1 In the summer of 2015 KCA, holders of the KCC contract to provide substance misuse 

interventions for young people, merged with national charity Addaction.  KCA services were 
rebranded to make use of Addaction’s national profile, which has seen Addaction delivering 
substance misuse work across the country since 1997. 

 
5.2 Addaction have several programmes for young people depending on their circumstances. 

The RisKit programme is for those aged 14-16 years old who are vulnerable to risk-taking 
behaviour, which could include drug and alcohol abuse, early/unprotected sex and 
offending.  The programme includes a wide range of activities in order to address 
influences on behaviour, particularly related to those issues that worry young people the 
most.  Young people are first screened to identify those at risk; completed by an entire year 
group at each participating school.  Young people are then invited to attend two taster 
sessions that look broadly at perceptions of different risk behaviours, including substance 
use.  This is then followed by eight targeted life skills training sessions which include: 
identifying risky behaviour; why people take risks and how to reduce risk; communication 
and assertiveness; expressing needs and feelings; dealing with anger; reasons to change; 
making contacts; final plans.  Each session lasts an hour and is delivered to around six 
young people. 

 
5.3 Another programme; Addaction Mind and Body aims to support young people who are 

struggling with thoughts or actions of self-harm, but who are not being supported by 
specialist mental health services.  Through therapeutic group work, and 1:1 sessions, 
young people will be supported in making attitudinal and behavioural changes.  This will 
also be run primarily within school settings. 

 
5.4 Addaction also offer therapeutic Early Intervention support for groups, specifically around 

drug and alcohol use, as well as 1:1 Specialist Treatment support for young people who are 
struggling with their own substance misuse.  Addaction also support parents/carers who 
may be struggling with their children's substance misuse via the Partnership Programme. 

 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 27 
 

Addaction (KCA prior to Summer 2015) Young people client base – Dartford and 
Gravesham 

 

  

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Dartford

No. of young people starting new  treatment journey 15 7 14 7

Total no. young people engaged w ith substance misuse treatment services 31 22 18 9

Treatment exits:-

   Planned 92% 50% 42% 100%

   Unplanned 81% 50% 42% 0%

Gravesham

No. of young people starting new  treatment journey 18 17 13 13

Total no. young people engaged w ith substance misuse treatment services 44 46 32 16

Treatment exits:-

   Planned 78% 82% 100% 83%

   Unplanned 22% 18% 0% 17%



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 28 
 

Review of key activities – substance misuse 
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address substance 
misuse in 2015 

 Joint work between Police, Council Officers, and KCC Trading Standards carrying out 
checks on the sale of New Psychoactive Substances (more commonly known as ‘Legal 
Highs’) to ensure that products comply with trading legislation; 

 Range of activities delivered in support of Alcohol Action Week including late night 
inspections carried out in both areas as part of Operation Pilot and 
educational/preventative work to encourage responsible drinking behaviours; 

 Continuing to work with licensed premises in both Dartford and Gravesend town centres to 
achieve standards that meet the criteria for the Safer Socialising Award, with several new 
premises having been granted the Award; 

 Continuation of a ‘Reducing the Strength’ campaign in Gravesend to address the 
irresponsible selling of high volume alcohol; 

 Targeted outreach work delivered by CRI to address problems caused by a small group of 
persistent street drinkers; 

 Ongoing work in Gravesham resulting from the Home Office supported Local Alcohol 
Action Areas project which resulted in a multi-agency delivery group that led to the Making 
Every Adult Matter (MEAM) project, target-hardening work in and around the town centre 
and the revitalisation of the Safer Socialising Award Scheme.  Particular attention is being 
given to alcohol-related ASB and developing the evening and night-time economy whilst 
still positively impacting levels of crime and disorder; 

 Relocation of Grabbacab in Dartford in line with feedback and demand, and provision of 
taxi marshals at key times of the year in Gravesend to encourage the safe and swift 
dispersal of people away from town centres late at night, and to reduce the opportunity for 
alcohol-related crime and disorder to occur (particularly on key days and during seasonal 
festivities); 

 Using G-Safe and D-TAC Exclusion Orders for those individuals repeatedly involved 
alcohol or drug-related crime from member premises; 

 Consultation undertaken in Gravesham on introducing a Public Space Protection Order 
(PSPO) to deal with several alcohol-related issues in the town centre; 

 Delivered outreach work with The Gr@nd to engage with young people involved in ASB 
and raising awareness of the potential harm of underage drinking; 

 Test purchasing operations run in our Boroughs by KCC Trading Standards to help tackle 
underage drinking; 

 Delivery of a Kent Community Alcohol Partnership (KCAP) initiative in the Swanscombe 
area of Dartford, following on from a scheme already in place in the Northfleet South area 
of Gravesham; 

 Commencement of the MEAM Project as a pilot in Gravesend (subsequently extended to 
Dartford) to address the complex needs of persistent substance misusers resistant to 
change. 

 

 
  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 29 
 

 

Acquisitive and Property Crime 
 
1. Burglary dwelling 
 
1.1 Both Dartford and Gravesham recorded fewer burglary dwelling offences in the 1 October 

2014 to 30 September 2015 period than in the previous year.  In Dartford, there were 240 
burglary dwelling offences (161 / 40.1% offences fewer than 2014) whilst in Gravesham 
there were 386 offences recorded (92 / 19.8% offences fewer than 2014).  Across the 
County the majority of districts have seen significant reductions.  Dover and Shepway have 
seen an increase in reported dwelling burglaries, with a slight increase in Tunbridge Wells.   

 
1.2 The 2011 Census statistics suggest that there were 40,081 households in Dartford and 

40,431 households in Gravesham at that time.  Using these figures, burglary dwelling 
offences translate to 6 offences per 1,000 households in Dartford and 9.5 offences per 
1,000 households in Gravesham during the 12 months considered.  To put these figures 
into context, it is useful to consider that they equate to less than 5 domestic burglaries per 
week in Dartford and less than 8 such offences per week in Gravesham.  This has reduced 
from the 2014 figure of approximately 7 in Dartford per week, and 9 in Gravesham. 
 

1.3 Dartford and Gravesham CSP ranked in 7th position within our MSG with respect to burglary 
dwelling offences in the year ending 30 September 2015.  Our CSP has a rate per 1,000 
households of 7.8 offences, compared to an MSG average of 9.4 offences. 

 
1.4 Council Wards in which burglary dwelling offences were most common were: in Dartford, 

Longfield, Stone, and Bean & Darenth; and in Gravesham, Singlewell, Northfleet North and 
Riverside Wards. 

 
2. Burglary other than dwelling (BOTD) 
 
2.1 BOTD offences include breaks into garden sheds, garages and other outbuildings.  In the 

year ending 30 September 2015, Dartford recorded 439 offences (613 in 2014).  Whilst 
Gravesham recorded 642; an increase on the 618 offences in 2014. 

 
2.2 Per 1,000 population: in Dartford there were 4.3 offences and in Gravesham there were 6.1 

offences.  However, these figures are higher than the average Kent-wide rate of BOTD 
offences of 3.7 offences per 1,000 population, and within our MSG our CSP ranked in 15th 
place in the year ending 30 September 2015.  This suggests that this form of acquisitive 
crime is more prevalent in our area and that we will need to consider how we might 
increase our joint efforts to address it.  Dartford & Gravesham CSP’s rate is 5.2 crimes per 
1,000 population, compared to an MSG average of 3.6. 

 
2.3 Council Wards in which BOTD offences were more prevalent were: Swanscombe, Longfield 

and Stone in Dartford (73, 41, and 41 offences) and in Gravesham; Singlewell, Woodlands, 
and Northfleet North Wards (101, 65, and 40 offences).   

 
3. Vehicle crime 
 
3.1 Vehicle crime has historically been higher in Dartford than in other Kent Districts including 

neighbouring Gravesham.  A total of 798 vehicle crimes were recorded against 803 
offences in 2014 and equating to 7.8 offences per 1,000 population.  Of the 798 offences, 
513 were offences of thefts from motor vehicles and 285 were thefts of motor vehicles.  The 
Kent-wide average rate is 4.9 offences.  Dartford experienced a rise in theft from offences 
in December 2014 and January 2015, a reduction between March and June 2015, and an 
increase in August and September. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 30 
 

 
3.2 Gravesham recorded a total of 692 offences of vehicle crime during this 12-month period, 

only slightly below the 695 recorded in 2014.  Of the total, 471 offences were of thefts from 
motor vehicles and 221 were thefts of motor vehicles.  The rate per 1,000 population for 
total vehicle crime is lower than Dartford at 6.6 offences.  Gravesham saw a rise in theft 
from offences in March 2015, which also happened to be the highest month for theft of 
offences. 

 
3.3 For the 12-month period ending 30 September 2015, our CSP ranked in 8th position for theft 

from motor vehicle offences, exactly on the 4.7 per 1,000 population average.  For Theft of 
motor vehicle offences, our CSP was in 12th position, with 2.4 offences per 1,000, 
compared to the average rate of 1.7. 

 
3.4 Council wards experiencing the greatest number of thefts from motor vehicles in Dartford 

were: Greenhithe, Bean & Darenth, and Newtown wards (42, 37 and 3 respectively) whilst 
in Gravesham key wards were Singlewell (76), Northfleet North (48), Central and Riverside 
Wards (32 each). 

 
3.5 Council wards in which thefts of motor vehicles were more common in Dartford were 

Swanscombe, Town and Newtown Wards (31, 27 and 26 offences), and in Gravesham, 
Singlewell, Riverside and Northfleet North wards (37, 27, and 20 offences). 

 
4. Theft and handling excluding vehicle interference 
 
4.1 It is important to note that North Kent has particular features that mean some differentiation 

should be drawn with other Kent Districts.  Our rail and transport links to South London do 
make us a more attractive and accessible target for cross-border criminals and the 
presence of Bluewater Shopping Centre means that the number of shoplifting offences 
recorded in the Dartford area are considerably inflated. 

 
Theft and Handling offences exc. Vehicle Interference 

October 2014-September 2015 
 

Area 

Volume 
Oct 14-
Sep 15 

Volume 
Oct 13-
Sep 14 

% 
change 

As %. of 
total 
crime 

Per 
1,000 
pop. 

Ashford 1870 2130 -12.2 31.1 15.2 

Canterbury 2762 2915 -5.2 32.8 17.5 

Dartford 2513 2587 -2.9 33.4 24.6 

Dover 1473 1517 -2.9 24.3 13.0 

Gravesham 1580 1703 -7.2 23.3 15.0 

Maidstone 2620 2728 -4.0 30.9 16.2 

Sevenoaks 1242 1264 -1.7 23.6 10.5 

Shepway 1421 1675 -15.2 24.8 13.0 

Swale 2451 2528 -3.0 27.3 17.4 

Thanet 2762 3250 -15.0 26.1 20.0 

Tonbridge and Malling 1429 1375 +3.9 27.4 11.5 

Tunbridge Wells 1333 1408 -5.3 28.8 11.5 

KCC Districts 23456 25080 -6.5 28.0 15.5 

Medway 4661 4524 +3.0 26.0 17.0 

Kent 28117 29604 -5.0 27.7 15.8 

 
4.2 In the 12 months ending 30 September 2015, there were 2,513 theft and handling offences 

recorded in Dartford, 74 offences higher than in 2014.  This figure equates to 24.6 offences 
per 1,000 population – the highest recorded by Kent Districts and Medway and accounting 
for over a third (33.4%) of all victim-based crime recorded in the Borough during this time. 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 31 
 

   
As mentioned earlier, the impact of Bluewater on Dartford’s level of theft and handling 
offences has to be taken into consideration.  The removal of offences occurring within the 
Bluewater Complex would bring the total of these offences in Dartford down significantly 
and leave theft and handling offences accounting for approximately 26.4% of total crime 
and giving a rate per 1,000 population of approximately 17.5 offences – much closer to the 
Kent average. 

 
4.3 A total of 1,580 theft and handling offences were recorded in Gravesham during the same 

period – 123 offences less than in 2014.  Theft offences accounted for over a fifth of all 
victim-based crime recorded in the Borough (23.3%) but the rate of these offences per 
1,000 population was lower than the Kent average; at 15.0 offences in Gravesham 
compared to 15.8 offences for the whole County. 

 
Pattern of recorded Theft and Handling Offences – Dartford 

 

 
 

Pattern of recorded Theft and Handling Offences – Gravesham 
 

 
 
4.4 Shoplifting offences account for a significant proportion of the total number of theft and 

handling offences recorded in each Borough (although as discussed, Dartford’s situation is 
exceptional, with around half of shoplifting offences having taken place in the Bluewater 
Complex).  There were 1,201 offences recorded in Dartford (6 offences more than 2014) 
and 438 offences recorded in Gravesham (71 offences less than 2014).  To demonstrate 
the impact of Bluewater, it should be noted that the number of shoplifting offences in 
Dartford including Bluewater account for nearly 10.8% of all shoplifting across the County 
(including Medway).  Bluewater on its own accounts for 5.3% of shoplifting in Kent and 
Medway.   

 
4.5 With Bluewater included, Dartford’s rate per 1,000 population is 11.8.  If the number 

occurring in Bluewater were subtracted from Dartford’s figures, Dartford’s level of shoplifting 
would be 6.0 offences per 1,000 population.   

 
4.6 Gravesham’s rate of shoplifting offences per 1,000 population is 4.2 offences.  This is lower 

than the County-average of 6.3 offences. 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 32 
 

4.7 Some areas within our MSG do have large shopping centres similar to Bluewater (but not 
necessarily with the same footfall or geographical accessibility) and in the 12 months 
ending 30 September 2015, our CSP was in 11th position with 7.9 shoplifting offences per 
1,000 population compared to the MSG average of 7.1.  In the period covered in the 2014 
Assessment, our CSP was in 12th place in the group. 

 
 

  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 33 
 

Review of key activities – acquisitive and property crime 
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address acquisitive 
and property crime in 2015 

 Delivery of seasonal initiatives raising awareness and providing advice to the public on 
steps to take to reduce the risk of burglary, motor vehicle crime and theft e.g. Christmas 
Safety Shop, Safer Summer Campaigns; 

 Improving the links between Police, CCTV Operators and both G-Safe and D-TAC 
members particularly in addressing retail theft. Radio systems have been upgraded, and 
both Town Centre Schemes have achieved Distinctions from the Business Crime 
Partnership Accreditation body for the professionalism and efficiency in the running of the 
Schemes; 

 Use of G-Safe and D-TAC Exclusion Orders to deter persistent shoplifters from entering 
member premises and ensuring that there is good communication between both our 
Schemes and with other Schemes in the county to tackle cross-border offending; 

 Joint work with KCC Wardens and Trading Standards to engage with residents in areas 
where issues such as bogus callers and distraction burglary are more prevalent; 

 Through input into the Integrated Offender Management process, work with prolific 
offenders (for whom acquisitive crimes such as shoplifting and burglary are frequently the 
crime of choice); 

 Making full use of both permanent and rapid deployment cameras in areas where 
acquisitive crime is most prevalent; 

 Use of public events e.g. Tenants’ Conferences, Over 50’s events, as an opportunity to 
disseminate information and advice regarding home and property security; 
 

 
  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 34 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour  
 
1. Police recorded incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
 
1.1 The definition of anti-social behaviour (ASB) was revised within the National Standards for 

Incident Reporting (NSIR) in 2011 but was not subject to any further amendment as part of 
the reclassification of certain crime categories in 2013.  Therefore, it is possible for a 
comparative analysis to be carried out of incidents recorded between October 2014 and 
September 2015, and the previous two 12 month periods. 

 
1.2 In the year ending 30 September 2015, Kent Police recorded 2,592 ASB incidents in 

Dartford compared to 2,949 incidents the previous year – a reduction of 12.1%.  This in in 
line with falling levels of ASB seen across the whole of Kent County. Figures equate to a 
rate of 25.4 ASB incidents per 1,000 population in Dartford – lower than the Kent-wide 
average rate of 26.5 incidents. 

 
Police recorded incidents of ASB  

1 October-30 September 2012-13, 2013-14 and 2014-15 
 

 
Area 

Oct 2012- 
Sept 2013 

Oct 2013- 
Sept 2014 

Oct 2014- 
Sept 2015 

13/14 to 
14/15 

% change 

2014/15 per 
1,000 

population 

Ashford 3191 1850 1641 -11.3 13.3 

Canterbury 4755 4353 4240 -2.6 26.9 

Dartford 2895 2949 2592 -12.1 25.4 

Dover 4002 3700 3690 -0.3 32.6 

Gravesham 3807 3616 3355 -7.2 31.9 

Maidstone 4026 3679 3608 -1.9 22.3 

Sevenoaks 2297 2141 1970 -8.0 16.7 

Shepway 3795 3163 2940 -7.1 26.8 

Swale 4303 4088 4059 -0.7 28.8 

Thanet 5988 6160 5435 -11.8 39.3 

Tonbridge & Malling 2598 2533 2493 -1.6 20.0 

Tunbridge Wells 2534 2302 2236 -2.9 19.3 

KCC Districts 44191 40534 38259 -5.6 25.3 

Medway 10065 9250 8998 -2.7 32.8 

Kent 54256 49784 47257 -5.1 26.5 

 
1.3 3,355 ASB incidents were recorded in Gravesham in the 12 months ending 30 September 

2015, a reduction of 7.2% compared to the 3,616 incidents recorded in the previous year.  
With a rate of 31.9 ASB incidents per 1,000 population, Gravesham’s rate of offences was 
the fourth highest recorded in any Kent and Medway, although significantly less than the 
highest rate; 39.3 incidents as seen in Thanet.   

 
1.4 Key Council wards in which ASB is most prevalent are: in Dartford, Town, Swanscombe, 

Stone wards and Bean & Darenth, and in Gravesham, Riverside, Pelham, Central and 
Singlewell wards. 

 
1.5 Undoubtedly ASB will need to continue to be a strategic priority across CSPs.  Not only are 

figures high; cases coming to the attention of CSUs are often involve high-risk vulnerable 
victims, and those engaging in the ASB themselves often have complex needs of their own 
that can only be effectively addressed by considerable joint working across many partner 
agencies before a change in behaviour can be achieved and sustained. 

  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 35 
 

2. Criminal damage 
 
2.1 Criminal damage has not been a headline priority for our CSP for several years, however 

monitoring of this crime category is important because of its close links with anti-social 
behaviour and because it continues to record a significant volume of offences in each 
Borough.  There were 1,232 offences of criminal damage recorded in Dartford in the year 
ending 30 September 2015 – 77 offences more than in 2014.  Gravesham recorded 1,150 
offences - 165 fewer than in 2014. 

 
2.2 Criminal damage offences accounted for 16.4% of victim-based crime recorded in Dartford 

and for 17.0% of victim-based crime recorded in Gravesham.  Criminal damage offences 
per 1,000 population are also higher in each of our Boroughs than the Kent-average rate: 
12.1 offences per 1,000 population in Dartford and 10.9 offences in Gravesham compared 
to a County average of 10.0 offences.  This is also echoed by our position within our MSG 
in respect of criminal damage offences: in the year ending 30 September 2015 we ranked 
in 14th position, our rate of 11.1 offences per 1,000 population therefore being higher than 
the MSG average of 9.5. 

 
2.3 Council Wards in which criminal damage offences occurred more often were: in Dartford, 

Town (139 offences), Swanscombe (126 offences), and Newtown (124) wards and in 
Gravesham, Riverside (183), Northfleet North (142), and Pelham (111) wards. 

 
2.4 The volume of criminal damage offences occurring in each of our Boroughs, the financial 

impact that they have on organisations, environments and communities and the close links 
with ASB, suggest that this is a crime category worthy of some more detailed research. 
However, what is not clear on the information provided is the correlation which any of these 
have to other areas which the CSP focuses efforts on.  For example; criminal damage may 
be linked to domestic incidents, or Night Time Economy alcohol misuse, as well as the 
more traditional view of offences being carried out through mindless vandalism. 

 
3. Accidental and Deliberate Fires – Kent Fire & Rescue Service (KF&RS) 
 
3.1 Overall fire activity has increased in Dartford and decreased in Gravesham.  The majority of 

other districts in Kent have seen an increase ranging from 3% to 19%, with only Gravesham 
and Dover seeing a reduction.  The figure for Dartford is solely down to a large increase in 
deliberate and accidental fires on grassland in Swanscombe, and Heath wards. 

 
Total fires recorded by KF&RS 

 

 
Area 

Oct 2013-Sept 
2014 

Oct 2014-Sept 
2015 

 
% +/- 

Dartford 240 357 +48.8% 

Gravesham 274 266 -2.8% 

KCC Districts 3286 3661 +11.1% 

Kent 3823 4288 +12.2% 

 
3.2 Council Wards with the highest number of total fires in the latter 12 months were: in 

Dartford, Swanscombe (65 fires), Heath (38 fires) and Stone (32 fires).  The figure for 
Swanscombe was around double that for each of the previous two years (29 and 32); and 
this year Swanscombe ward had the second highest number of total fires for the County.  In 
Gravesham the most prominent wards for fires were; Riverside (57 fires), Shorne Cobham 
& Luddesdon (27 fires), and Northfleet North (26 fires).  Riverside ward had the third 
highest number of total fires in the County, having been second highest in Kent last year. 

 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 36 
 

3.3 Accidental fires 
 
3.3.1 Both Dartford and Gravesham saw an increase in the number of accidental fires in the year 

ending 30 September 2015.  Dartford’s level of increase was significantly greater than 
Gravesham’s.  Only two Kent districts saw reductions in the level of accidental fires, with 
the remainder experiencing increases between 3% and 27%; placing Dartford’s percentage 
increase significantly higher than those seen by other areas.  

 
Accidental fires recorded by KF&RS 

 

 
Area 

Oct 2013-Sept 
2014 

Oct 2014-Sept 
2015 

 
% +/- 

Dartford 128  178 39.1% 

Gravesham 121 134 10.7% 

KCC Districts 1998 2227 11.5% 

Kent 2269 2510 10.6% 

 
3.3.2 Council wards in which accidental fires were more prevalent were: in Dartford, 

Swanscombe (20 fires), Heath, Stone, Bean & Darenth, and Town Wards (all 16 fires).  In 
Gravesham; Shorne Cobham & Luddesdon (18 fires), Northfleet North (15 fires), and 
Riverside (13 fires). 

 
3.4 Deliberate fires 

Deliberate fires recorded by KF&RS 
1 October 2014-30 September 2014 and 1 October 2014-30 September 2015 

 

 
Area 

Oct 2013-Sept 
2014 

Oct 2014-Sept 
2015 

 
% +/- 

Dartford 112 179 +59.8% 

Gravesham 153 132 -13.7% 

KCC Districts 1288 1434 +11.3% 

Kent 1554 1778 +14.4% 

 
3.4.1 As mentioned above, Dartford has seen a very large increase in the number of deliberate 

fires.  The majority of Kent districts have seen an increase, with Gravesham being one of 
the three to experience a reduction. 

 
3.4.2 Council wards in Dartford where deliberate fires were most common were: Swanscombe 

(45 fires), Heath (22 fires) and Stone (16 fires).  In Gravesham, Riverside ward accounted 
for 44 deliberate fires followed by Singlewell (15 fires), and Northfleet North (11 fires). 

 
4. Noise Nuisance 
 
4.1 Both Dartford and Gravesham Councils monitor the number of noise complaints in their 

Boroughs through their Environmental Services Departments.  Monitored data is sent 
(together with other information) to the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 
annually.  This data is then provided to Central Government in order that trends can be 
highlighted, gaps in service provision identified, the success of policy initiatives at national 
and local level measured and funding and other resources justified. 

 
4.2 There were 668 noise complaints received in Dartford in the year ending 30 September 

2015, a slight increase of 1.5% from 658 complaints received in the previous 12 months.  
By far the greatest number of complaints concerned loud music – 203 complaints or nearly 
a third of the total number of complaints handled.  The second highest number of 
complaints concerned ‘barking dogs’ – 125 complaints in the last year. The number of 
complaints in both of these categories has risen from the previous year.  The 2014 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 37 
 

Assessment saw the number of loud music and barking dog complaints at 176 and 123 
respectively. 

 
Noise nuisance complaints by category 

 
 
Noise 
category 

Dartford Gravesham 

Yr ending 
Sept 2013 

Yr ending 
Sept 2014 

 
% +/- 

Yr ending 
Sept 2013 

Yr ending 
Sept 2014 

 
% +/- 

Alarm –
intermittent 

 
0 

 
- 

 
- 

 
9 

 
9 

 
0 

Alarm 34 22 -35.3 20 12 -40.0 

Barking dog 123 125 +1.6 99 84 -15.2 

Bells 1 0 -100 0 1 - 

Boats 0 0 - 0 0 0 

DIY 18 12 -33.3 18 13 -27.8 

Fireworks 125 0 -100 1 3 +300.0 

Loud music 176 203 +15.3 144 155 +7.6 

Low frequency - 1 - 3 0 -100 

Machinery 57 52 -8.8 21 22 +4.8 

Other 68 70 +2.9 41 54 +31.7 

Other animals 10 7 -30.0 5 3 -40.0 

Party 48 39 -18.7 38 22 -42.1 

People 61 79 +29.5 93 66 -29.0 

Plant (constr.) 26 18 -30.8 12 9 -25.0 

PA systems 4 3 -25.0 2 2 0.0 

Shooting 3 3 0 3 2 -33.3 

Street noise 11 4 -72.7 13 1 -92.3 

TV/radio 7 5 -42.9 5 2 -60.0 

Unspecified 6 19 +316.7 0 0 0 

Vehicle alarms 0 - - 1 4 +400.0 

Vehicle repairs 5 6 +20.0 0 4 - 

Total 658 668 +1.5 528 468 -11.4 

 
4.3 There were 468 noise complaints received in Gravesham in the year ending 30 September 

2015, a significant reduction of 11.4% from the 528 complaints received in the previous 
year.  As in Dartford, the greatest number of complaints concerned loud music – 155 
complaints – representing 33.1% of total noise complaints handled.  Other categories 
generating the higher numbers of complaints related to: ‘barking dogs’ (84 complaints or 
17.9% of the total) and ‘people’ (66 complaints or 14.1% of the total). 

 
4.4 Whilst some categories of noise complaints seem to have seen quite substantial 

percentage increases (e.g. complaints relating to vehicle alarms in Gravesham), in reality, 
numbers are very small indeed and not indicative of major problems. 

 
4.5 One of the key factors influencing noise complaints, particularly those concerning music or 

related to people being noisy, is the weather: in warmer weather more windows are open 
allowing noise from music to carry, and in certain residential areas people will tend to 
gather and socialise immediately outside their properties with conversational noise 
becoming much more audible in neighbouring properties.  This is supported by the fact that 
June, July and August were the months during which the greatest number of complaints 
were received in both Boroughs, with the vast majority relating to loud music but also to 
parties and ‘people’.  This trend was also seen in 2014. 

 
5. Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 Powers 
 
5.1 In October 2014 the Act brought in several powers which were intended to simplify existing 

procedures as well as enabling authorities to take action at an earlier stage of a complaint 
being received.  As a brief summary; Anti-social Behaviour Orders are now replaced by 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 38 
 

either Civil Injunctions, in cases where there have not been any criminal offences involved; 
or Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBOs), which can be imposed followed a conviction for a 
criminal offence.  Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) replaced the previous 
Designated Public Space Orders; and new Absolute Grounds for Possession enable 
housing authorities to evict those causing serious anti-social behaviour where related crime 
or ASB has already been proven in a court case. 
 

5.2 Perhaps the most significant measure bought in by the Act was the introduction of 
Community Protection Notices (CPNs).  These allows authorities to respond to issues 
which affect quality of life by issuing a warning letter to the perpetrator informing them that 
their behaviour is having a detrimental effect on the community.  The warning letter must 
set out the alleged behaviour and what steps the perpetrator must take to end this.  The 
letter can also include positive requirements, such as cleaning up a pile of waste in their 
garden.  The warning letter, which is being referred to as a CPW, must also state that 
failure to comply with the instructions could lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued for 
£100, or prosecution in a Magistrates Court. 

 
5.3 Dartford CSU has issued seven CPWs relating to anti-social behaviour on Dartford Heath. 

The Environmental Health department of DBC have issued four CPWs, as well as several 
‘pre-warning’ letters which have advised the recipient that continuation of conduct could 
lead to the CPN process being initiated.  DBC’s Housing department have used the 2014 
Act to obtain three Civil Injunctions, with one of these including a positive requirement to 
engage with substance misuse treatment provider.  DBC Housing has issued one CPW.  
Kent Police have used the powers to impose CBOs on five individuals convicted of offences 
relating to repeated incidents of disorder around Temple Hill. 

 
5.4 In Gravesham, Environmental Health Officers have issued two CPWs relating to noise.  

Police have used Dispersal powers to address persistent ASB (primarily caused by street-
drinkers) in the area immediately in and around the Clock Tower in Central Gravesend.  A 
CBO has been obtained by police against an individual causing ASB related to his drinking, 
and this includes a positive requirement for him to liaise with the substance misuse service 
to the satisfaction of the service manager. 

  
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 39 
 

Review of key activities – anti-social behaviour  
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address anti-social 
behaviour in 2015 

 Coordination of interventions and activity to work with individuals engaging in ASB through 
local multi-agency ASB Groups and also through CSU Briefing meetings; 

 Effective use of enforcement tools and successful action taken against those persistently 
involved in ASB e.g. Acceptable Behaviour Agreements (ABAs) and use of Community 
Protection Notices and CPN warning letters introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014;  

 Effective use of rapid deployment cameras in each Borough to deter ASB, provide 
reassurance to local neighbourhoods and capture evidence of ASB or criminal behaviour; 

 Delivering extensive programmes of work with Kent, Surrey & Sussex Community 
Rehabilitation Company Community Payback Teams to tackle some of the consequences 
of ASB such as fly-tipping, littering and environmental damage; 

 Working with local communities to encourage volunteering to help ‘clean-up’ certain 
locations that have been subjected to ASB, promote local ownership and pride in 
neighbourhoods; 

 Using assessments to ensure that repeat victims of ASB who are considered to be ‘high 
risk’ are given the best assistance possible from all partner agencies who can provide 
support; 

 Site visits/environmental audits carried out by Housing staff to identify any ASB-related 
environmental damage/issues in order that they can be addressed swiftly and avoid 
problems escalating; 

 Enforcement officers providing advice or issuing Fixed Penalty Notices in respect of 
breaches of Community Protection Notices (CPNs), Public Space Protection Orders 
(PSPOs), littering and dog fouling as appropriate; 

 Arrangements in place to resume multi-agency ‘Street RATs’ Project set up by Dartford 
CSU (subject to KCC/YMCA staffing); detached Youth Workers from KCC working 
alongside Kent Police officers to deal with low level ASB and nuisance with the aim of 
directing young people into more appropriate areas or activities where there have been 
complaints of ‘teenagers hanging around’. 

 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 40 
 

Reducing Re-offending 

 
1. Overview 
 
1.1 Reducing re-offending is concerned with cutting crime by stopping and/or changing the 

behaviour of known offenders.  Whilst repeat offenders are small numerically, they are often 
responsible for a disproportionate number of crimes committed within our two Boroughs, 
causing significant damage to local communities and quality of life.  The challenge lies in 
ensuring that services deliver a balance between enforcement activities necessary to 
protect the public and providing appropriate support to offenders to assist them in steering 
clear of criminality. 

 
1.2 Following changes to the delivery of probation services nationally, as of June 2014, Kent 

Probation re-organised into two separate organisations: Kent, Surrey and Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Company (KSS CRC) and the National Probation Service (NPS).  
Broadly speaking; the CRC have responsibility for monitoring offenders with any sentence 
under 12 months’ imprisonment, and are accountable to the targets set out in their contract.  
The NPS is responsible for monitoring offenders who receive a sentence greater than 12 
months, and those deemed high-risk. 

 
2. Local Adult Re-offending for Dartford and Gravesham 
 
2.1  The below data provides re-offending figures for adult service users (SU), who were 

released from custody; received a non-custodial conviction at court; caution; reprimand; or 
warning during a 12 month period.  A proven re-offence is defined as any offence 
committed in a one year follow up period that leads to a conviction, caution, reprimand or 
warning in the one year follow up or within a further six month waiting period to allow the 
offence to be proven in court.  The data is historic and does not relate specifically to service 
users subject to probation involvement.  Reoffending data related to the KSS CRC is 
currently unavailable, with the first publication due in October 2017. 

 
Local adult re-offending rates 

Dartford 

Category     Jan12-Dec12 Apr12-Mar13 Jul12-Jun13 Oct12-Sep13 

Proportion of SU who reoffend (%) 23.5% 23.6% 22.1% 22.2% 

Average reoffences per SU (no.) 2.72 2.65 2.83 3.13 

Average reoffences per SU (freq.)  0.64 0.63 0.62 0.69 

Number of reoffences 519 504 498 538 

Number of reoffenders 191 190 176 172 

Number of SU in cohort 812 805 797 775 

Average previous offences per SU 8.20 8.65 8.63 8.43 

 
Gravesham 

Category     Jan12-Dec12 Apr12-Mar13 Jul12-Jun13 Oct12-Sep13 

Proportion of SU who reoffend (%) 22.2% 23.9% 23.8% 23.8% 

Average reoffences per SU (no.) 2.82 3.07 3.01 2.91 

Average reoffences per SU (freq.)  0.63 0.73 0.72 0.69 

Number of reoffences 635 751 749 731 

Number of reoffenders 225 245 249 251 

Number of SU in cohort 1,013 1,025 1,045 1,056 

Average previous offences per SU 8.13 8.66 8.36 8.15 

 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 41 
 

2.2 Across the County, an average of 23.2% of offenders re-offended during the last period 
information is provided for.  Dartford has a rate slightly below this and Gravesham slightly 
above.  The Kent average for the number of offences committed per service user is 3.14; 
while the Dartford average is 3.13 offences, the Gravesham average is below this at 2.91 
offences.  

 
3. Caseload Overview of Offenders 
 
3.1 KSS CRC data has been provided for overall caseloads of offenders across Kent districts 

areas as figures stood at 31 March 2015.   
 

 

 
NB. Caseload includes community orders, suspended sentence orders, post release licences and post sentence supervision.  
‘NFA/ and Missing/Unknown’ rows cannot be allocated to a CSP and represent the following proportions: 5.7% of cases had 
an incomplete, unrecognised or missing postcode; 3.3% of cases were recorded as being NFA. 

 
3.2 The vast majority of the offenders in the Dartford and Gravesham areas were male; 83% in 

Dartford and 87% in Gravesham.  The highest offending age group in both districts was 30-
39 years, which accounted for 27.3% of offenders in Dartford and 34.5% in Gravesham.  

 
3.3 In Dartford 83% of offenders described themselves as of ‘white’ ethnicity, 12% as ‘BME’ 

(Black or Minority Ethnic), and this information was not recorded in 5% of cases.  In 
Gravesham 78% described themselves as ‘white,’ 17% as ‘BME’, and the information was 
not recorded in 5% of cases.  (Across both districts the ‘not recorded’ responses were 
presumably down to human error as there were no responses recorded as a ‘refusal’ to 
provide an answer.) 

 
3.4 The majority of offenders had been involved in violence (28.8% of Dartford cases and 

24.4% of Gravesham cases), with the second most common key offence being ‘theft (Non-
motor)’ (14.4% of Dartford cases and 13.4% of Gravesham cases).  The third most 
common offence type differed; 8.6% of offenders in Dartford had committed ‘drug 
import/export/production’ offences, while 12.6% of offenders in Gravesham had been 
convicted of ‘public order’ offences. 

 
4. Integrated Offender Management (IOM) 
 
4.1 IOM is a multi-agency process for identifying those offenders who have or are causing harm 

to communities through their criminal and/or anti-social behaviour.  Multi-agency expertise 
and resources are pooled to try to identify ways of reducing re-offending.  Dartford’s cohort 

Area 
Community 

Order 
Suspended 

Sentence 

Post 
Release 
Licence Total 

Ashford 76 17 60 153 

Canterbury 125 28 60 213 

Dartford 74 29 36 139 

Gravesham 59 26 34 119 

Dover 86 23 41 150 

Maidstone 134 45 81 260 

Medway 239 96 114 449 

Sevenoaks 59 18 32 109 

Shepway 71 31 40 142 

Swale 153 51 64 268 

Tonbridge and 
Malling 66 19 34 119 

Tunbridge Wells 80 21 38 139 

No Fixed Address 61 18 16 95 

Missing/Unknown 79 40 43 162 

Kent   1545 499 801 2845 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 42 
 

between November 2014 and October 2015 comprised of eight offenders.  Of these, three 
were in custody.  Of the five in the community, three (60%) committed offences; however 
overall three of these five reduced the level at which they were offending when they entered 
onto the IOM process.  Dartford’s cohort is all male, and all are described as ‘white’ 
ethnicity.   

 
4.2 Criminogenic needs indicate a system, situation, or place which may cause a person to 

engage in criminal behaviour.  When asked to provide the multiple factors which they felt 
influenced their offending, ‘thinking & behaviour,’ and ‘attitudes’ were the most common 
factors given by the IOM cohort in Dartford (each chosen by 86% of the cohort).  ‘Finances’ 
and ‘Lifestyle & associates’ were the second most selected areas of need (each given by 
71% of the cohort).  43% in Dartford selected ‘Drug abuse’ as a need linked to offending, 
however this is 24% less than the County average.  Only 14% list accommodation as a 
need linked to their offending. 

 
4.3 Between November 2014 and October 2015 there were 18 individuals on the Gravesham 

IOM cohort; with 7 of these in custody.  Of the 11 in the community, four (36%) committed 
an offence, and three (27%) reduced their offending in comparison to their level at the time 
of entry to the IOM process.  
 

4.4 ’Thinking & behaviour,’ and ‘Lifestyle & associates’ were each selected by 86% of the 
cohort as a need linked to their offending.  ‘Education Training & Employment’ and 
‘finances,’ were each listed by 71% of the cohort.  43% in Gravesham listed ‘drug abuse,’ 
and 36% listed ‘accommodation.’ 
 

5. Deter Young Offenders (DYO) 
 
5.1 Deter Young Offenders (DYO) is a joint process between the Youth Offending Services and 

Kent Police focussed on identifying problematic young offenders under supervision with the 
aim of diverting them away from further criminality.  During the year ending 31 October 
2015 Dartford had two DYO subjects, both male.  One of these committed an offence while 
part of the DYO process, and overall neither reduced their level of offending over the year. 

 
5.2 Gravesham had four DYO subjects during the year ending 31 October 2015; all male.  In 

this time period three of these committed offences.  Three of the cohort reduced their level 
of offending, meaning that although they had still been carrying out offences; they had not 
been committing as many offences as they had at the start of the process. 

 
6. Troubled Families Programme (Families First) 
 
6.1.1 Phase One of the Kent Troubled Families Programme (known as Families First in 

Gravesham and Turnaround in Dartford) ran until the end of March 2015, and saw families 
nominated to receive support if they were experiencing difficulties in any two of the 
following; employment; school attendance; and anti-social behaviour or offending by young 
people in the family.  Districts were also able to select their own local discretionary criterion, 
which was frequently used to qualify families who already had a high number of agencies 
working with them and therefore represented a high cost to the public purse.  Each KCC 
district had a Local Delivery Project Manager (LDPM) who set up local partnerships with 
agencies and managed the allocation of families to professionals from these agencies or to 
dedicated Family Intervention Programme staff (FIPs) funded by KCC.  While Kent was 
successful overall, there were varying levels of engagement from external agencies across 
the County and differences in the delivery of programmes. 

 
6.1.2 Dartford and Gravesham were the highest performing districts in Kent at the majority of the 

claims rounds, at which information on successful outcomes with families was submitted to 
KCC, then onwards to Central Government.  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 43 
 

Claims by each district’s Troubled Families programme at the end of phase 1 against target 
number at the start of the programme 

 

District 
Total families 
claimed for 

Target no. of 
family claims 

% of target 
claimed for 

Ashford 198 194 102.1% 

Canterbury 272 286 95.0% 

Dartford 124 95 131.0% 

Dover 241 267 90.1% 

Gravesham 206 180 114.6% 

Maidstone 205 189 108.3% 

Sevenoaks 115 102 113.0% 

Shepway 264 225 117.5% 

Swale 321 369 87.0% 

Thanet 316 364 86.7% 

Ton. & Malling 178 175 101.7% 

Tunbridge Wells 120 114 105.7% 

Grand Total 2560 2560 100.0% 

 
6.2.1 Due to Kent’s success on phase 1 of Troubled Families, the County was selected by 

Central Government to be one of a limited number of areas nationally to begin working 
early on phase 2 of the programme.  Phase 2 expanded the qualifying criteria used in 
phase 1; adding Domestic Abuse, health concerns, and adult offending.  A family also 
qualified to receive support if they were nominated by a professional for assistance by 
KCC’s Early Help service through submission of an Early Help notification form. 

 
6.2.2 KCC Early Help staff received training in the ethos behind the Troubled Families 

programme and this enabled them to take a holistic approach to dealing with problems 
experienced by the whole family, rather than focussing on the issues of the child as they 
had traditionally done.  This has greatly increased the number of staff across each district 
who are providing support to families with multiple problems; and local District Partnership 
Managers (DPMs) have retained control of the allocation of FIP staff who can provide 
intensive support to those in particularly demanding circumstances. 

 
6.3 Family intervention work is a lengthy process; taking time to build a rapport, discuss aims 

with a family, and put in place an action plan.  In addition to this, the majority of Troubled 
Families outcomes require any changes to be sustained for at least several months (such 
as maintaining school attendance for several terms).  In phase 1 the first few claims periods 
saw a relatively small number of successful outcomes, as families had either not achieved 
the outcomes set for them, or it had not been possible for them to have sustained 
improvements for the required period.  There is also a delay between the time it takes for 
agencies to collate data and pass this on to the KCC Central TF team to identify potential 
claims.  As phase 2 has only been operating since April, Kent has only seen a relatively 
small number of claims to date. 

 
6.4.1 Families are identified by checking all those who have been notified to KCC Early Help to 

see if they meet the Troubled Families criteria.  This process became ‘business as usual’ 
on 1st September 2015.  As Phase 2 lists are updated monthly the families identified 
through this process are not yet reflected on this report.  However, at the end of September 
2015, 82.5% of Early Help notifications across KCC districts have met at least two Troubled 
Families criteria.  It is important to note that the following percentage figures relate to 
families on the TF cohort rather than the district or KCC area population as a whole. 

6.4.2 Offending & Anti-social behaviour: 
 At the time of being identified as meeting any two of the criteria mentioned previously, 

25.5% of families in Dartford had an identified offending issue, as did 31.3% of families in 
Gravesham; compared with a KCC district average of 19.5%.  14.9% of Dartford families 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 44 
 

had at least one family member causing ASB, compared to 20.9% in Gravesham and a 
County average of 22.2%. 

 
6.4.3 Education: 
 21.3% of children in the Dartford cohort have had three or more fixed term exclusions or a 

permanent exclusion.  19.4% of children in the Gravesham cohort meet this criterion, 
compared to a KCC district average of 14.9%.  The levels of children who are not registered 
as receiving schooling in our districts is significantly above the County average of 12.8%. 
Dartford has the third highest rate at 19.1%, while Gravesham has a rate of 14.9%. 
Absence from school is a common factor across all districts, and 70.2% of children in the 
Dartford criteria meet this criterion, compared to 74.6% of children in the Gravesham 
cohort.  The County average is 67.9%. 

 
6.4.4 Children who need help 
 The majority of families are nominated through Early Help notifications, submitted by 

professionals such as teachers, health visitors, or community policing teams.  Families who 
do not come through this referral route have either been transferred over from phase 1 of 
Troubled Families, or ‘stepped-down’ from being worked with by Specialist Children’s 
Services.  8.5% of families in Dartford have a child assessed by Specialist Children’s 
Services as a ‘Child in Need,’ compared with 16.4% in Gravesham and a County average 
of 10.7%.  A ‘Child Protection Plan’ is put in place when Specialist Children’s Services have 
a high level of concern regarding a child’s wellbeing.  4.3% of Dartford families have a plan 
in place, and 10.4% of families in Gravesham.  The County average is 4.1%. 

 
 6.4.5 At risk of financial exclusion 
 Dartford has the highest proportion of families in KCC districts where at least one adult is 

claiming an out of work benefit, at 59.6%.  The Gravesham cohort has 29.9% of families 
meeting this criteria; in line with the County average of 30.0%.  Across the County, the most 
frequently claimed benefit by families in the TF cohort is Employment Support Allowance 
(ESA), which is claimed by 36% of claimants and generally suggests that claimants have a 
more complex reason for being unemployed; potentially requiring support from Department 
for Work & Pensions staff in addition to family worker support.  Across TF families in KCC 
districts, only 15.8% of claimants are receiving job seekers allowance (JSA); which 
generally represents those who are out-of-work but actively looking for employment. 

 
6.4.6 Domestic Abuse 
 As mentioned previously in the Assessment, Domestic Abuse impacts people in the places 

and situations in which they should feel safest, and it is right that those in need are 
supported in overcoming issues they face.  In Dartford, 4.3% of families in the cohort have 
reported two of more incidents of Domestic Abuse to police; the lowest rate in the County. 
Gravesham have a rate of 16.4% of families, which is the highest in the County, with the 
average being 9.0%. 

 
6.4.7 Health 
 Identification of issues under this headline criteria are subjective and completed during 

face-to-face interviews with the families rather than being taken from any County wide 
computer systems.  Successful outcomes are based on the family taking positive steps 
towards reducing or managing any conditions they feel they need help with rather than 
setting any numerical targets; for example, if a family identify that they have a problem with 
weight management or alcohol, and receive and implement advice on how they can adopt a 
healthier lifestyle.  The programme also aims to ensure that all children are registered with 
GPs and dentists.  There is currently no data on identification of health criteria. 

 
6.4.8 The table below shows the number of criteria met by families in each district. 

The majority of families in Dartford and Gravesham meet two criteria.  Gravesham have 
one of the eleven families across the County which meet five criteria, and none of the other 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 45 
 

ten of these families reside in Dartford.  Both areas have a significant number of families 
meeting four criteria; 5 in Dartford and 7 in Gravesham.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Two Three Four Five 

Ashford 83 39 16 1 

Canterbury 84 38 4 - 

Dartford 25 17 5 - 

Dover 103 42 10 3 

Gravesham 41 18 7 1 

Maidstone 42 8 5 - 

Sevenoaks 105 46 7 2 

Shepway 71 45 8 2 

Swale 71 25 6 - 

Thanet 98 47 11 1 

Ton. and Malling 91 26 13 - 

Tunbridge Wells 99 21 9 1 

County 913 372 101 11 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 46 
 

Review of key activities – reducing re-offending 
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address reducing 
re-offending in 2015 

 Joint Dartford and Gravesham Reducing Re-offending Sub-Group fully established and 
operational, led by KSS CRC and focusing on accommodation and education, 
employment and training issues affecting ex-offenders; 

 Established close working relationship with training providers (e.g. Bluewater Learning 
Shop and employment services including DWP and Jobcentre Plus) to extend assistance 
given to those about to be released in identifying learning, training and employment 
opportunities; 

 Improved information sharing between partner agencies through the IOM process in order 
that potential issues that could affect an individual about to be released can be identified 
early on e.g. whether there is likely to be difficulty in securing accommodation or training/ 
employment is available; 

 Through the Reducing Re-offending Sub-Group, practical information e.g. regarding 
services available locally (including information regarding food banks) has been shared in 
order that those working directly with ex-offenders can communicate the information to 
them; 

 Delivered programmes of work with Community Payback, often supported by volunteers 
from the local community and different partner agencies;   

 Continued to support an Identification Documents Scheme whereby those about to be 
released without formal documents e.g. birth certificates, passports, could have these 
replaced as lack of them could often create barriers to securing accommodation and/or 
employment. 

 Making Every Adult Matter project has been trialled, which supports users of multiple 
services who are often difficult to engage with. Most candidates often represent a 
significant level of demand for police resources and either have a history of offending or 
their behaviour places them on the cusp of doing so. 
 

 

 

 
 
  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 47 
 

Road Safety 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Road Safety has been treated as a strategic priority at both a County level and by our local 

CSP for several years with a particular emphasis on raising awareness amongst young 
people and adults as pedestrians and drivers.  Whilst not necessarily involving criminal 
behaviour or ASB, issues relating to road safety can impact on individuals’ personal safety 
and these can often be effectively addressed through partnership preventative and 
educational work. 

 
1.2 Dartford and Gravesham have the smallest land area of Kent Districts but the number of 

people per km2 is high and throughout our Boroughs there are major trunk roads e.g. M25, 
A282, A2 and M2 that facilitate traffic throughout the County.  Large-scale regeneration and 
development projects are underway in both districts with further projects due to begin in the 
near future, inevitably increasing the number of vehicles in the area. 

 
2. Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) – All Casualties 
 
2.1 Casualties resulting from road traffic collisions (RTCs) reduced by an average of 1.8%  

across Kent in the 12 months ending 30 June 2015, compared to the previous 12 months. 
The 2014 Assessment reported a 9.0% increase on 2013 figures.  

 
2.2 Dartford saw a 1.7% reduction in RTCs (642 to 631) compared to 4.9% reduction in 

Gravesham (369 to 351 collisions).  Dartford had the second highest number of RTC’s 
involving casualties in the County, with Maidstone experiencing the highest number at 709. 
This was also seen in the 2014 Assessment, and Dartford’s road network and geographical 
positioning make it more likely to experience RTCs than many other parts of the County. 
The average rate across KCC districts was 499 RTCs. 

 
Road Traffic Collisions – All Casualties 

 

  Jul 2011- Jul 2012- Jul 2013- Jul 2014-   

Area Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 % +/- 

Ashford 488 524 535 504 -5.8 

Canterbury 477 518 526 481 -8.6 

Dartford 550 558 642 631 -1.7 

Dover 351 395 391 354 -9.5 

Gravesham 369 354 369 351 -4.9 

Maidstone 622 672 693 709 2.3 

Sevenoaks 556 546 553 527 -4.7 

Shepway 376 350 352 390 10.8 

Swale 487 447 615 564 -8.3 

Thanet 464 432 529 532 0.6 

Tonbridge and Malling 498 463 510 510 0.0 

Tunbridge Wells 383 409 465 432 -7.1 

Kent Districts 5621 5668 6180 5985 -3.2 

 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 48 
 

2.3 Whilst seemingly obvious, it is important to still note that adverse and severe weather 
conditions will clearly have an impact on the risks of collisions on the roads e.g. particularly 
harsh winters, flooding, snow and ice have all been experienced in the County in the past 
couple of years and these may have contributed to increases in accidents. 

 
3. Road Traffic Collision (RTC) Casualties – Under 16 years old 
 
3.1 In the year ending 30 June 2015, the number of RTC casualties which involved children 

under 16 years of age varied significantly across Dartford and Gravesham.  60 such RTCs 
were recorded in Dartford and 31 in Gravesham, compared to the District average of 42.3 
RTCs.  Numbers are relatively small and therefore, to speak in terms of percentage 
increases and decreases would be unhelpful.  There were 11 more RTCs involving 
casualties under 16 in Dartford compared to the previous 12 months (from 49 to 60) and 20 
less such RTCs in Gravesham (from 51 to 31). 

 
4. Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) with ‘Killed and Seriously Injured’ (KSI) Casualties 
 
4.1 RTCs with Killed or Seriously Injured casualties (KSIs) increased in both Dartford and 

Gravesham in the 12 months ending 30 June 2015 compared to the previous period.  
The number in Dartford increased slightly from 38 KSI RTCs in 2014 to 41, while 
Gravesham saw an increase from 27 KSI RTCs in 2014 to 39 in 2015.  
 

Road Traffic Collisions – all KSI Casualties 
 

  Jul 2011- Jul 2012- Jul 2013- Jul 14- 

Area Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 

Ashford 47 72 78 55 

Canterbury 56 51 72 41 

Dartford 34 43 38 41 

Dover 28 38 46 33 

Gravesham 16 17 27 39 

Maidstone 58 54 76 57 

Sevenoaks 75 50 69 74 

Shepway 31 39 47 47 

Swale 48 38 61 59 

Thanet 43 35 51 53 

Tonbridge and Malling 40 45 44 32 

Tunbridge Wells 41 46 58 56 

KCC Districts 517 528 667 587 

 
4.2 Dartford has seen the highest number of collisions involving KSI casualties under 16 in 

Kent in the 12 month period ending 30 June 2015. Eight such RTCs occurred in Dartford in 
this period, with the figure have increased from five in 2014.  This figured halved in 
Gravesham, from four in 2014 to two in the 2015 period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 49 
 

Road Traffic Collisions – KSI Casualties aged under 16 
 

 
Jul 2011- Jul 2012- Jul 2013- Jul 2014- 

Area Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 

Ashford 4 5 9 5 

Canterbury 2 2 5 0 

Dartford 3 4 5 8 

Dover 3 2 1 2 

Gravesham 3 1 4 2 

Maidstone 5 3 2 1 

Sevenoaks 4 0 5 3 

Shepway 4 4 1 6 

Swale 4 7 6 6 

Thanet 5 7 6 5 

Tonbridge and Malling 2 4 4 2 

Tunbridge Wells 3 5 5 7 

KCC Districts 42 44 53 47 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 50 
 

Review of key activities – road safety 
 

Key work carried out by Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and the CSP to address road 
safety issues in 2014 

 Promotion of Community Speed Watch in both Boroughs, with the schemes now operating 
very well following successful recruitment of further volunteers; risk assessments for sites 
nominated by scheme members have been completed and Speed Watch equipment 
updated; 

 KCC Wardens, Parking Services and KCC Road Safety Team have continued to deliver 
work in and around schools to improve safety; particularly at school dropping off and 
picking up times; 

 Dartford is now using a camera-equipped safety vehicle to deter dangerous parking 
around schools. This will only issue penalty notices for parking on ‘yellow zig-zag’ 
markings; 

 Support provided to Safety In Action Week for 10-11 year olds from local schools that 
includes a number of stalls/events to promote road safety for young pedestrians and 
cyclists; 

 Awareness-raising campaigns in the Christmas and New Year period regarding driving 
whilst under the influence of alcohol and/or other substances and encouraging people to 
use taxis to get home safely; 

 Working closely with KCC Highways, Kent Police and local landowners to counter risks 
posed to both pedestrians and drivers by horses loose on the highway (Denton, 
Gravesend and Stone, Dartford); 

 ‘Licence to Kill’ event  run by KCC for young drivers/potential drivers and their passengers; 

 Ongoing liaison with KCC Highways staff regarding locations bought to CSUs’ attention 
through members of the public. 
 

  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 51 
 

 

Counter Terrorism and Extremism 
 
1. National Policy – PREVENT 
 
1.1 For several years work at a local level has concentrated on delivery of the Government’s 

Prevent Strategy.  Prevent is a key part of CONTEST, the Government’s counter-terrorism 
strategy that aims to respond to the ideological challenge of terrorism and those who 
promote it, prevent people from being drawn into terrorism and work with sectors and 
institutions where there are risks of radicalisation. 

 
1.2 The CONTEST strategy is based around four key areas of work;  

 Pursue: the investigation and disruption of terrorist attacks; 

 Prevent: work to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism and extremism; 
(this is the key strand for local authorities) 

 Protect: improving our protective security to stop a terrorist attack; and 

 Prepare: working to minimise the impact of an attack and to recover from it as quickly as 
possible. 

 
1.3 Work includes disrupting extremist speakers, removing material online and intervening to 

stop people being radicalised.  The most significant terrorist threat is currently from Al 
Qai’da-associated groups and from terrorist organisations in Syria and Iraq, including ISIL. 
Individuals and groups associated with the ‘extreme right’ are also considered to pose a 
potential risk. 

 
2. Channel – a Partnership Approach to Protecting Vulnerable People 

 
2.1 Channel is a multi-agency approach to provide support to individuals who are at risk of 

being drawn into terrorist-related activity or who are in danger of being radicalised.  
Channel forms part of the wider Prevent Strategy but seeks particularly to: 

 

 Safeguard individuals who might be vulnerable to being radicalised so that they are 
not at risk of being drawn into terrorist-related activity; 

 Ensure that individuals and communities have the ability to resist all forms of 
terrorism and violent extremism activity likely to lead to terrorism. 

 
2.2 The Channel process identifies those most at risk of radicalisation and refers them via the 

Police or Local Authority for assessment by a multi-agency panel.  Panels will consider how 
best to safeguard them and support their vulnerability through a support package tailored to 
individual needs.  Partnership involvement ensures that those at risk have access to a wide 
range of support ranging from mainstream services, such as health and education, through 
to specialist mentoring or faith guidance and wider diversionary activities. 

 
3. Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 
 
3.1 Central Government has advised that the terrorism threat to the United Kingdom is 

considerable: in August 2014, the Independent Joint Terrorism Analysis Centre raised the 
UK national terrorist threat level from ‘substantial’ to ‘severe’ and it has remained at this 
level since.  

 
3.2 The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, received Royal Assent in February 2015 and 

is relevant for consideration within this Assessment as the Act concerns the role that Local 
Authorities are expected to play in reducing the risks of terrorism and particularly of the 
potential radicalisation of vulnerable people.  The Prevent programme relies on the  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 52 
 

co-operation of many organisations to be effective – most of those organisations that will 
have a role will already be actively engaged in CSPs.   

 
3.3. In respect of Prevent and Channel 
 
3.3.1 The relevant provisions of the Act are contained in Part 5 Chapters 1 and 2.  Section 26 

places a general duty on specified authorities which includes ‘a county council or district 
council in England’ (as listed in Schedule 6) ‘in the exercise of its functions, to have due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’.  As well as applying 
to Local Authorities, the duty applies to the police, prisons, providers of probation services, 
schools, colleges and universities.  In two-tier areas such as ours, Government have 
advised that County and District Councils need to agree proportionate arrangements for 
sharing the assessment of risk and for agreeing local Prevent action plans. 
  

3.3.2 Dartford and Gravesham CSUs have both developed a Prevent Action Plan which continue 
to deliver appropriate work in both areas and promote awareness of the Channel process.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 53 
 

Ranking Information 
 

Perception of community concern 
Has the theme been raised by any community groups within the CSP area or generated a high 
level of contact between members of the public and statutory partner services?  Are there any 
indicators to suggest that this is an issue about which the public are concerned e.g. through 
contact with CSUs, referrals by MPs, local Councillors? 
 
5 = A serious concern/problem 
3 = Medium impact 
4 = Low impact 
0 = No impact/No evidence/data to enable scoring 
 
Volume 
Are there still large numbers involved or for e.g. does the theme account for a large proportion of 
total recorded crime? 
 
5 = High volume 
3 = Medium volume 
1 = Low volume 
0 = No evidence/data to enable scoring 
 
Level of harm 
To what degree does the theme impact on the community/individuals (both physically and/or 
economically)? 
 
5 = High impact 
3 = Medium impact 
1 = Low impact 
0 = No impact/no evidence/data to enable scoring 
 
Suggested trend – are figures higher/lower than anticipated/compared to the previous year 
 
5 = Considerably higher than anticipated/compared to the previous year 
3 = Slightly higher than anticipated/compared to the previous year 
1 = Lower than anticipated/compared to the previous year 
0 = Much lower than anticipated/no evidence to enable scoring 
 
Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG 
Comparisons are drawn with the MSG in the first instance and with District County level data 
where this is not possible 
 
5 = Poor performance against others 
3 = Similar performance to others 
1 = Good performance against others 
0 = Best performance against others 
 
Partnership contribution 
Can partners from different agencies work together to assist with preventing or reducing the 
numbers involved in the theme?  If yes, then a higher score should be allocated. 
 
5 = Partnership working can greatly improve performance 
3 = Partnership working can improve performance 
1 = Partnership working will have limited impact 
0 = Partnership working will have no impact/no evidence 
 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 54 
 

Theme Ranking Process – Violent crime and domestic abuse 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  5 5 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  3 3 

Volume  5 5 

Suggested trend 3 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  3 3 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  5 5 

Total  24 22 

 
Theme Ranking Process - Burglary and BOTD 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  5 5 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  2 2 

Volume  1 1 

Suggested trend 1 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  3 3 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  2 2 

Total  14 14 

 
Theme Ranking Process – Theft and handling offences 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  2 2 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  4 4 

Volume  5 5 

Suggested trend 2 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  5 5 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  3 3 

Total  21 20 

 
Theme Ranking Process – Vehicle crime 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  2 1 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  2 2 

Volume  1 1 

Suggested trend 2 2 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  3 3 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  1 1 

Total  11 10 

 
Theme Ranking Process – Criminal damage 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  4 4 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  5 5 

Volume  5 5 

Suggested trend 2 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  5 5 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  4 4 

Total  25 24 

 



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 55 
 

Theme Ranking Process – Anti-social behaviour 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  5 5 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  5 5 

Volume  5 5 

Suggested trend 1 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  1 2 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  5 5 

Total  22 23 

 
Theme Ranking Process – Substance misuse 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  5 5 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  5 5 

Volume  1 1 

Suggested trend 1 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  1 1 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  5 5 

Total  18 18 

 
Theme Ranking Process – Road safety 

Factor Dartford Gravesham 

Perception of community concern  4 4 

Level of Harm/Impact on Community (Physical/Economic)  3 3 

Volume  5 2 

Suggested trend 2 1 

Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG  4 2 

Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value)  3 3 

Total  21 15 

 
Reducing Re-offending  
 
Information available makes it difficult to apply the theme ranking process to this area or to 
effectively score against the criteria e.g. level of harm is hard to assess without firm evidence.  
However, it is acknowledged that a very small number of offenders may be responsible for a very 
disproportionate number of criminal offences and incidents of ASB.  Reducing re-offending is also 
a cross-cutting theme, equally important in addressing any of the themes that have been identified 
above as key priorities.  The Reducing Re-offending Sub-Group of our CSP has made good 
progress in building the networks for joint working between service providers to begin addressing 
those factors that contribute to offending behaviour.  To cease to treat this theme as a priority at 
this point would be premature. 
 
Counter Terrorism and Extremism 
Counter Terrorism and Extremism also cannot easily be assessed using the theme ranking 
process.  However, changes in circumstances at a national level, our geographical position and 
diverse population, does mean that we need to ensure that responsibilities in working with partner 
agencies to counter terrorism, extremism and radicalisation, need to be met.  As a result of the 
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, Local Authorities along with other specified 
organisations have a duty to have ‘due regard to the need to prevent individuals being drawn into 
terrorism.’ 

  



Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 56 
 

Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety  

Partnership – Contacts 
 
Dartford Borough Council  
Community Safety Unit 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit 

Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
Kent DA1 1DR 
 
Tel. 01322 343000 
www.safedartford.gov.uk 
 

1st Floor, Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
 
Tel. 01474 337328/7000 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 
 

 
Kent Police 

Kent County Council 
Community Safety Unit 

Thames Way 
Northfleet 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 8BD 
 
Tel. 01474 369055 
www.kent.police.uk 
 

1st Floor, Invicta House 
Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XX 
 
Tel. 08458 247247 
www.kent.gov.uk 
 

 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 

Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community 
Rehabilitation Company 

The Godlands 
Straw Mill Hill 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6XB 
 
Tel. 01622 692121 
www.kent.fire-uk.org 
 

Joynes House 
New Road 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 0AT 
 
Tel. 03000 473000 
www.ksscrc.org.uk 
 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 

2nd Floor, Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
 
Tel. 03000 424903 
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk 
 

Office of the Kent PCC 
Kent Police Headquarters 
Sutton Road 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 9BZ 
 
Tel. 0622 677055 
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

http://www.safedartford.gov.uk/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.police.uk/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.fire-uk.org/
http://www.ksscrc.org.uk/
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.kent-pcc.gov.uk/


Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 

Page | 57 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
December 2015 

 





CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

1

Use of the new powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides background on the new tools and powers introduced under the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and the use of these powers to 
date.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the committee note the contents of the report.

3. Introduction

1.1 On 13 March 2014 the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act received Royal 
Assent.  The reforms introduced by the Act are designed to put victims at the heart of 
agencies responses to anti-social behaviour and simplify the process taken by 
professionals while giving flexibility to deal with any given situation by reducing the 
number of powers from nineteen down to six. The majority of these powers came into 
effect on 20 October 2014, apart from the Civil Injunction power which was delayed 
due to other legal amendments being required before it could be used.

1.2 The Home Office has described it’s intent by stating that the six new powers; ‘put 
victims at the heart of the response to anti-social behaviour and give professionals 
effective powers that are quick, practical and easy to use, providing better protection 
for victims and communities and a real deterrent to perpetrators’.

1.3 What is seen as anti-social behaviour will vary from person to person, it is a broad 
term used to describe criminal damage, nuisance and disorder that can seriously 
impact people’s lives, causing them alarm and distress - issues range from litter and 
vandalism, to public drunkenness or aggressive dogs, to noisy or abusive 
neighbours. Such a wide range of behaviours means that responsibility for dealing 
with anti-social behaviour is shared between a number of agencies, particularly the 
police, local authorities and social landlords. 

1.4 The focus of the Act is not on the behaviour in question but rather the impact it has 
on the victim, as in many cases what could be perceived as being ‘low level’ 
behaviour, when persistent and targeted against the most vulnerable, can have 
devastating effects on a victim’s life. 

1.5 The Act also includes two new measures which are designed to give victims and 
communities a say in the way anti-social behaviour is dealt with:



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

2

1.5.1 The Community Trigger, which gives victims the ability to demand action, 
starting with a review of their case, where the locally defined threshold is met 
(came into effect on the 20th October 2014). It is tantamount to a ‘complaints’ 
process for Community Safety Partnerships. To date there have been no 
community trigger activations by residents in either borough and there have 
been only one or two across the County since it was introduced.

1.5.2 The Community Remedy, is a plan produced by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and sets out how victims get a say in the out-of-court 
punishment of perpetrators for low-level crime and anti-social behaviour (also 
came into effect on the 20th October 2014). 

2 New Powers to Tackle Anti-Social Behaviour

2.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 replaces the nineteen pre-
existing measures with six new powers for tackling anti-social behaviour and 
introduces a new absolute ground for possession of secure and assured tenancies 
associated with anti-social behaviour or criminality. Each of the new measures is 
considered in turn below and further information is provided in the appendices.

2.2 Civil Injunctions

2.2.1 The injunction is a civil power which can be applied for to deal with anti-social 
individuals. The injunction is designed to be a fast and effective protection for 
victims and communities and set a clear standard of behaviour for perpetrators, 
stopping the person’s behaviour from escalating.

2.2.2 Although the injunction is a civil power, it is still a formal sanction and it is expected 
professionals will want to consider informal approaches before resorting to court 
action, especially in the case of under-18s. However, where informal approaches 
have not worked or professionals decide that a formal response is needed more 
quickly, they should be free to do so. 

2.2.3 Civil Injunctions were due to come into force on the 20th October 2014, meaning 
Courts would be able to issue an injunction against anyone over the age of 10 years 
old who is ‘engaged or threatens to engage in anti-social behaviour’. At the time the 
power was introduced however Courts were only able to issue injunctions to 
persons aged 18 or over. That meant Part 1 of the Act was delayed until March 23rd 
2015 to allow for necessary amendments to other legislation to be made along with 
changes to open up legal aid to those aged under 18.

2.3 Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO)

2.3.1 The CBO is an additional sanction a court can impose during sentencing following a 
conviction for any criminal offence. The Council can ask the Crown Prosecution 
Service to apply to the Court for a CBO on behalf of the authority and it can be used 
as a sanction upon breach of either a Community Protection Notice (CPN) or a 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

3

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO). A CBO can include both the more 
traditional prohibitions but also positive requirements and it is a criminal offence to 
fail to comply with an order without reasonable excuse. Breaches of CBO by those 
aged under 18 will be dealt with in the youth court. In all other cases, the offence 
will be considered by the magistrates’ court or Crown Court.

2.4 Dispersal Power

2.4.1 The dispersal power is a flexible power which the police can use in a range of 
situations to disperse anti-social individuals and provide immediate short-term 
respite to a local community. The Council is no longer able to use this power, 
previously a Dispersal Order had to be agreed by both the Police and the Authority.

2.4.2 The power is intended to be preventative as it allows an officer to deal instantly with 
someone’s behaviour and nip the problem in the bud before it escalates. In areas 
where there are regular problems, the police force is expected to work with the local 
council to find sustainable long-term solutions. In all instances, the impact on the 
local community should be considered before using the dispersal power.

2.4.3 Dispersal powers are used for up to 48hrs with Inspector approval and have been 
used quite often to deal with nuisance issues in the town centre, particularly around 
the night time economy periods.

2.5 Community Protection Notice (CPN)

2.5.1 The CPN is intended to deal with particular, on-going problems, or nuisances that 
negatively affect the community’s quality of life by targeting those responsible. 
CPNs can be used to tackle a wide range of problem behaviours including graffiti, 
rubbish and noise. It can be issued against any person over the age of 16 or a 
body, including a business. The Home Office notes that councils already take the 
lead in dealing with these kinds of issues. In addition to designated council officers, 
CPNs can also be issued by police officers and police community support officers.

2.5.2 There is a three step process in issuing a CPN, first a warning letter (CPW) must be 
issued directing a person to stop whatever they may be doing that is considered as 
anti-social and/or require them to carry out a certain action within a given time limit. 
For example it may require a person to clear up an untidy garden within a given 
period of time. If this warning letter is not followed the formal Notice can be issued 
which must contain the same conditions as the warning letter. If the problem 
persists then enforcement action can be taken such as;

2.5.2.1 A Fixed Penalty Notice of £100;

2.5.2.2 Prosecution in the Magistrates Court which could result in;

a. On summary conviction a fine not exceeding £2,500 for a person or £20,000 
for a business.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

4

b. The court may make whichever order the court thinks is appropriate for 
ensuring that the notice is complied with.

c. An order can be made requiring specified work to be carried out, or to allow 
specified work to be carried out by or on behalf of the Council.

d. The court may require you to surrender possession of any item used in your 
failure to comply with the Notice, to a constable or to a person representing 
The Council. The court may require this item to be destroyed or disposed of 
by the police force.  A justice of the peace may issue a warrant, authorising a 
constable or authorised person to enter your premises to seize the item.

2.6 Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO)

2.6.1 The PSPO is intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a particular 
area that is detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing 
conditions on the use of the area which apply to everyone. This could include, but is 
not restricted to, placing restrictions on the use of parks, alleyways, or communal 
areas to prevent problems with misuse of alcohol, dogs or noise. Local authorities 
will be responsible for making a PSPO but police officers and police community 
support officers as well as Council officers will have enforcement powers.

2.6.2 PSPOs are intended to replace the currently existing Designated Public Place 
Orders (DPPOs) which are known as Alcohol Control Zones. The DPPOs will expire 
in 2017 unless replaced with a PSPO.

2.7 Closure Power

2.7.1 The closure power can be used by local authorities and the police to close premises 
that are causing nuisance or disorder. The power comes in two stages. The closure 
notice can be used to provide short term relief up to a maximum of 48 hours. The 
closure notice can be issued in the first instance for 24 hours, or extended from 24 
hours up to a maximum of 48 hours by the Council's Managing Director or other 
officer designated by him, or by a Police Superintendent.

2.7.2 The notice can then be extended upon application to the Magistrates’ Court for a 
closure order for a period of up to three months. At any time before the expiry of the 
closure order, an application may be made to the court for an extension (or further 
extension) of the order up to a total of six months.

2.8 Absolute Grounds for Possession

2.8.1 The purpose of the new absolute ground for possession is to speed up the 
possession process in cases where anti-social behaviour or criminality has already 
been proven in another court. Landlords will no longer have to prove that it is 
reasonable to grant possession but, instead, courts must grant possession if the 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

5

landlord followed the correct procedure and at least one of the following specified 
conditions has been met.

 Convicted for a serious criminal offence,
 Found by a Court to have breached a Civil Injunction,
 Convicted for breach of a Criminal Behaviour Order,
 Convicted for breach of a Noise Abatement Notice, OR
 Tenants property closed under a Closure Order.

2.9 Other Measures

2.9.1 The Act also introduces the power for the Secretary of State to make regulations 
under which the keeper of a vehicle may be required to pay a fixed penalty where 
litter has been thrown, dropped or otherwise deposited from the vehicle. Currently, a 
fixed penalty notice can only be issued when litter is thrown from a car if the person 
responsible for throwing the litter can be identified. This new provision would bring 
the legislation for littering offences in line with that for fly-tipping with the keeper of a 
vehicle being deemed responsible for any offences committed by those within the 
vehicle.

3 Use of the new powers

3.1 Dartford: The CSU has issued seven Community Protection Warning (CPW) letters 
to deal with indecent behaviour on Dartford Heath. Housing have issued three Civil 
Injunctions to residents who were fighting, causing damage, and threatening 
neighbours; with one injunction including a positive requirement to engage with the 
substance misuse treatment provider. Environmental Health have issued five CPW 
letters and sent seven informal ‘pre-warning’ letters, advising that conduct could 
lead to the CPN process being instigated. Kent Police have used the powers to 
impose CBOs on five individuals convicted of offences relating to repeated incidents 
of disorder around Temple Hill.

3.2 Two areas are being considered for PSPOs; the town centre - to replace the 
existing Designated Public Place Order (DPPO), also known as an Alcohol Control 
Zone or ACZ. A second PSPO is being considered for an area of Dartford Heath. 
Prohibitions are likely to include a direction to stop drinking - which will last for a 
given time such as 24hrs - as well as hand over any open containers of alcohol; 
keep dogs on a lead; and on the heath to address activities which might cause 
alarm or distress, control the use of model/radio controlled vehicles (other than 
aircraft). 

3.3 Use of the two powers (CPN and PSPO) carries a risk that in order to effectively 
enforce against a breach of either we will likely have to take matters to Court rather 
than issue a FPN of £100; weighing up the likelihood of the FPN being paid against 
its effectiveness in stopping the nuisance. For example to deal with persistent street 
drinker, a more suitable and lasting outcome could be for a CBO or Civil Injunction 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

10 FEBRUARY 2016

6

to be applied, with conditions to engage with alcohol treatment, rather than issue a 
penalty notice which the person has no means to pay.

3.4 Gravesham: Environmental Health Officers have been authorised to issue CPNs 
and have issued warning letters in several cases.  Police have used Dispersal 
powers to address persistent ASB (primarily caused by street-drinkers) in the area 
immediately in and around the Clock Tower in Central Gravesend.  

3.5 Kent Police and Council colleagues have been working closely over the last few 
months in considering the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order to deal 
with a range of ASB issues affecting Gravesend town centre.  A draft Order has 
been produced and this together with collated evidence, an Equality Impact 
Assessment and draft Consultation documentation will be considered by 
Gravesham’s Management Team shortly.  If the decision is taken by the latter to 
proceed with the proposed Order, there will be a thorough public consultation 
process that will actively seek the opinions and comments of local residents, 
businesses, partner agencies and organisations and every effort will be made to 
ensure that it is as representative as possible.

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 Contributes to the Safer Community Objective Strategic Aim to create a safer 
Borough in which to work and live. 

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications Pursing enforcement action could 

lead to Court action being taken.
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None 21st Jan 2016 Matt Roberts EARS N/A



CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE
 
UPDATE: ROLLING WORK PROGRAMME 2015-16 and beyond

Detail:

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) as appropriate, to review the 
contributions made by partner agencies to the aims of the CSP.

Plus:
 To note the Minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel 

(PCP) and receive updates from the Council’s Panel representative.

 Draw-Downs to be decided on an ad-hoc basis.

On a statutory basis to;

 Consider the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document;
 Consider the CSP’s intermediary Performance Report;
 Consider the CSP’s annual Community Safety Plan document.

The Committee’s Work Programme is subject to review on a six monthly 
basis. Discretionary items may be rescheduled and/or new items added, in 
accordance with the Committee’s wishes and the guidance of the Strategic 
Director (External Services). 

Suggested additions to the Work Programme accepted by Members on 22 
July 2015 [Min. No. 11] included:

 Presentation from Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation 
Company (CRC);

 Neighbourhood Watch – Sharing Best Practice – presentation by Kent 
Police;

 Bluewater Safety Shop – presentation by Kent Police

A draft Work Programme listing the statutory items due to be considered by 
the Committee for the remainder of the 2015-16 municipal year and beyond, 
is attached at Appendix A. 

Officers will propose dates for consideration of the additional discretionary 
items listed above on 10 February. 



DRAFT: Work Programme 2015–16 and Beyond 

Meeting Work Plan Items

Winter 
2016
February

Strategic Assessment 
2015

PCP 
Update

ASB powers

Summer 
2016
July

Community Safety 
Plan 2016-17

PCP 
Update

Performance
Report

Winter 
2017
February

Strategic Assessment 
2016

PCP 
Update

Summer 
2017
July

Community Safety 
Plan
2017-18

PCP
Update

Performance Report

Winter 
2018
February

Strategic Assessment
2017

PCP
Update

Member Services February 2016


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2015
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Kent Police and Crime Commission (PCP) Update
	Item8.PCP.Minutes 26th-Oct-2015

	9 CSP Strategic Assessment 2015
	Item 9 - Dartford & Gravesham CSP Strategic Assessment 2015

	10 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: New Powers
	11 Work Plan Update

